Immunometabolic network interactions of the kynurenine pathway in cutaneous malignant melanoma



Soudabeh Rad Pour



From DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

IMMUNOMETABOLIC NETWORK INTERACTIONS OF THE KYNURENINE PATHWAY IN CUTANEOUS MALIGNANT MELANOMA

Soudabeh Rad Pour



Stockholm 2020

Front cover was illustrated by Soudabeh Rad Pour All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institute. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB © Soudabeh Rad Pour, 2020 ISBN 978-91-7831-872-8

Immunometabolic network interactions of the kynurenine pathway in cutaneous malignant melanoma

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

Center for Molecular Medicine (CMM), Lecture hall, L8:00, Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset, Solna Wednesday, June 17th, 2020 at 09:00.

By

Soudabeh Rad Pour

Principal Supervisor: Professor, MD Jesper Tegner Karolinska Institute Department of Medicine

Co-supervisor(s): Professor, MD Johan Hansson Karolinska Institute Department of Oncology-Pathology

Associate professor, Andreas Lundqvist Karolinska Institute Department of Oncology-Pathology

MD, PhD Hiromasa Morikawa Karolinska Institute Department of Medicine *Opponent:* Associate professor, MD Marco Donia University of Copenhagen Department of Clinical Medicine

Examination Board: Associate professor, Carsten Daub Karolinska Institute Department of Biosciences and Nutrition

Professor, MD Lars Ny Institute of Clinical Sciences, Göteborg Department of Oncology

Associate professor Di Yu Uppsala university Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology

TO MY LOVELY FAMILY

KEY WORDS

Cancer D oncogene n kocyte receptor BRAF gand che Tumor nicroen nent Try Regulatory -mono nase nme KA 9 se oma in e

*: The graph was created using an online word cloud tool (<u>http://www.wordle.net</u>). It was based on the text content of this thesis, excluding acknowledgements, references and the constituent research articles.

ABSTRACT

Cancer is the second leading cause of mortality worldwide, and melanoma represents the most aggressive and deadliest form of skin cancer. Despite the various therapeutic approaches, metastatic melanoma is a disease with a poor prognosis. Recently, the evolution of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) led to a substantial improvement of the overall survival of patients. However, the long-term effectiveness of such treatments is restricted by the sometimes rapidly emerging resistance to treatment. Several molecular mechanisms underlying this resistant phenotype have begun to be elucidated. The Kynurenine pathway activity via indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1), is one such mediator of immunosuppression and resistance to ICIs.

Studies included in this thesis, therefore, aim to clarify the role of the kynurenine pathway (KP) in metastatic cutaneous melanoma. To this end, we established an *in vitro* co-culture model consisting of CD4 +T cells in culture with different melanoma cell lines (MCLs) to investigate the implication of KP modifications on CD4 + T-cell function. We found that in addition to IDO1, other KP enzymatic activities such as KMO may regulate CD4 + T-cell immunity (Study I). Following this finding, we evaluated the immune-metabolic network interactions of KP in CMM patients to explore the link between KP metabolites (KPMs) and regulation of the anti-tumour immune response. Our data showed a significant association between MAPKIs treatments and alterations of 3-HK and 3HAA concentrations. These results suggest that KP is clinically relevant in CMM patients (Study II). We further aimed to identify possible KP-related predictive biomarkers of response to ICIs treatment (Study III, IV). Our findings demonstrate the elevated S100A9+ monocytes among PBMCs of the CMM patients who are not responding to the PD-1 inhibition (Study III). Subsequently, by using the PBMCs and plasma of CMM patients on ICI therapy, we observed that kynurinase (KYNU) and LGALS3 (Galectin-3) expression in protein and RNA levels are negatively linked to clinical outcomes. Moreover, we found that the KYNU-LGALS3 network in monocytes is connected to the CD74-MYC network in CD4+ T-cells. These results suggest that LGALS3, MYC, CD74, and KYNU are biologically connected, and perturbing their interaction will possibly modulate ICI efficacy in CMM patients (Study IV).

In summary, this thesis provides insights into the induction of n immune-suppressive phenotype by KP activation in CD4+ T-cells and demonstrates the therapeutic potential of targeting KP in the treatment of malignant melanoma.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- I. Soudabeh Rad Pour#, Hiromasa Morikawa, Narsis A. Kiani, Muyi Yang, Alireza Azimi, Gowhar Shafi, Mingmei Shang, Roland Baumgartner, Daniel FJ Ketelhuth, Muhammad Anas Kamleh, Craig E. Wheelock, Andreas Lundqvist, Johan Hansson, Jesper Tegnér. Exhaustion of CD4+ T-cells mediated by the Kynurenine Pathway in Melanoma, Sci Rep. 2019 Aug 21;9(1):12150. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-48635-x. PMID: 31434983
- II. Soudabeh Rad Pour#, Hiromasa Morikawa, Narsis A. Kiani, David Gomez-Cabrero, Alistair Hayes, Xiaozhong Zheng, Maria Pernemalm, Janne Lehtiö, Damian J. Mole, Johan Hansson, Hanna Eriksson, Jesper Tegnér Immunometabolic network interactions of the kynurenine pathway in cutaneous malignant melanoma, Front Oncol. 2020 Feb 3;10:51. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00051. eCollection 2020.PMID: 32117720
- III. Soudabeh Rad Pour*, Yago Pico de Coaña*, Xabier Martinez De Morentin, Jeroen Melief, Manjula P. Thimma, Maria Wolodarski, David Gomez Cabrero, Johan Hansson, Rolf Kiessling, Jesper Tegnér The Immune Cell Composition of PBMCs in melanoma Patients and their Association with Response to Nivolumab, Manuscript
- IV. Soudabeh Rad Pour, Hanna Eriksson, Johan Hansson, Jesper Tegnér Kynurenine pathway activity predict primary resistance to immune checkpoint blockade in cutaneous malignant melanoma, Manuscript

SUPPORTING RESULTS

Sunjay Fernandes*, **Soudabeh Rad Pour***, Manjula P. Thimma, Faiez Al Nimer, Alexsandra Gyllenberg, Fredrik Piehl, David Gomez Cabrero, Ingrid Kockum, Jesper Tegnér

Single cell transcriptomics of paired blood and cerebrospinal fluid of multiple sclerosis patients with special focus on the immune repertoire, Manuscript

#, Corresponding authors

*, Equal contributions

PREFACE

My introduction to the world of tryptophan as essential amino acid and its metabolism by kynurenine pathway developed from my wish to find new ways to better grasp the biology of melanoma tumours and immunosuppression, hoping for finding new treatment strategies. As my research continued, I began to search the field of tryptophan for possible research collaborators, reagents, and supplies, and I was surprised to note that tryptophan catabolism plays an important role not only in health but also in a broad spectrum of human diseases. I was astonished to learn that the kynurenine pathway was acknowledged as a leading player in various diseases, including inflammation, cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, psychiatric disorders, neurodegenerative diseases, and stem cell biology. Although investigation of the kynurenine pathway association with melanoma is still in its infancy, the picture for the field of tryptophan metabolism is quite mature. The research described in my thesis provides a link between the basic mechanistic understanding of the kynurenine pathway and clinically relevant translational applications. It investigates indications that tryptophan metabolism via the kynurenine pathway is a potential biomarker for disease activity, may subsidize to local and possibly systemic immune suppression in cancer, and is an attractive target in this field. Given the large number of people suffering from the disorders listed above, the potential clinical efficacy of drugs targeting the enzymes in the kynurenine pathway is truly promising.

This thesis could not have been completed without the contribution of my supervisor, professor Tegner, and my co-supervisors, professor Hansson, Dr. Lundqvist, and Dr. Morikawa. I am also incredibly grateful to my colleagues and lab-members for their support, assistance, and patience throughout my Ph.D. education. I hope that the readers will receive the same appreciation for the complexity in the field of kynurenine pathway that I did in the preparation of this thesis.

CONTENTS

| - | | | |
|---|----------------|--|---------|
|] | l . 1 ′ | THE IMMUNE SYSTEM | 13 |
| | 1.1.1 | The innate, or non-specific, immunity | |
| | 1.1.2 | The secondary immunity | |
|] | 1.2 | IMMUNE RESPONSES IN CONTROLLING CANCERS | 16 |
| | 1.2.1 | Historical overview | 16 |
| | 1.2.2 | Barrier to anti-tumour immunity | 16 |
| | 1.2.3 | Therapeutic outlook | |
| 1 | 1.3 | CUTANEOUS MALIGNANT MELANOMA | |
| | 1.3.1 | Common aberrations in CMM | 21 |
| | 1.3.2 | Treatment for CMM | |
| | 1.3.3 | Therapy resistance in CMM | |
| | 1.3.4 | Biomarker-based prediction of response to therapy for CMM | |
|] | 1.4] | METABOLIC INTERVENTIONS IN THE CANCER IMMUNE R | ESPONSE |
| | | 24 | |
| | 1.4.1 | General overview of metabolism | |
| | 1.4.1 | Metabolic diversity in tumours | |
| | 1.4.2 | Targeting Metabolism for Cancer Therapy | |
| | 1.4.3 | The kynurenine pathway metabolism | |
| | 1.4.4 | The kynurenines and therapeutic potential of KYN catabolites | |
| 1 | 1.5 | SUMMARY | |
| 2 | AIM | OF THE THESIS | |
| 3 | МАТ | ERIALS AND METHODS | |
| | 3.1 (| CD4+ AND CANCER CELL CO-CULTURE ASSAYS, AND TRE | ATMENT |
| | í | 31 | |
| | 3.2 | PLASMA SAMPLING AND SAMPLE COLLECTION | |
| | 3.3] | PLASMA PROTEIN DETECTION | |
| | 3.3.1 | LC-MS instrumentation | |
| | 3.3.2 | proximity extension assay (PEA) | |
| | 3.3.3 | Single-cell RNA sequencing of PBMCs populations | |
| | 3.3.4 | Network analysis | |
| | 3.3.5 | Additional methods | |
| 4 | RES | ULT and DISCUSSION | |
| 4 | 4.1 | EXHAUSTION OF CD4+ T-CELLS MEDIATED BY THE KYNU | RENINE |
|] | PATHV | VAY IN MELANOMA (PAPER I) | |

| I Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in anoma patients treated with nivolumab 41 2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy onse 41 3 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 42 KYNURENINE PATHWAY ACTIVITY PREDICT PRIMARY GRANT MELANOMA (PAPER IV) 43 I Elevated plasma concentration of kynurinase (KYNU) in CMM patient and its ciation with clinical response 42 KYNU cell-type-specific induction in CMM patients 44 3 KYNU-LGALS3 network in monocytes is connected to CD74-MYC network in 45 ACLUSIONS |
|--|
| I Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in anoma patients treated with nivolumab 41 2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy onse 41 3 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 41 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 42 KYNURENINE PATHWAY ACTIVITY PREDICT PRIMARY STANCE TO IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE IN CUTANEOUS GNANT MELANOMA (PAPER IV) 43 Elevated plasma concentration of kynurinase (KYNU) in CMM patient and its ciation with clinical response 44 2 KYNU cell-type-specific induction in CMM patients 44 3 KYNU-LGALS3 network in monocytes is connected to CD74-MYC network in 45 |
| I Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in anoma patients treated with nivolumab |
| 1 Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in 2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy 2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy 3 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 41 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 42 KYNURENINE PATHWAY ACTIVITY PREDICT PRIMARY STANCE TO IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE IN CUTANEOUS GNANT MELANOMA (PAPER IV) 43 Elevated plasma concentration of kynurinase (KYNU) in CMM patient and its ciation with clinical response 44 2 KYNU cell-type-specific induction in CMM patients |
| 1 Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in 2 noma patients treated with nivolumab 2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy 2 Store 3 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 41 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 42 KYNURENINE PATHWAY ACTIVITY PREDICT PRIMARY STANCE TO IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE IN CUTANEOUS GNANT MELANOMA (PAPER IV) 43 Elevated plasma concentration of kynurinase (KYNU) in CMM patient and its ciation with clinical response |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in anoma patients treated with nivolumab |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in anoma patients treated with nivolumab |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in anoma patients treated with nivolumab |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in unoma patients treated with nivolumab 2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy onse 41 3 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade 42 42 |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in noma patients treated with nivolumab |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in noma patients treated with nivolumab |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in noma patients treated with nivolumab |
| Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in |
| |
| ^{(R} III)40 |
| ENTS AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH RESPONSE TO NIVOLUMAB |
| THE IMMUNE CELL COMPOSITION OF PRMCS IN MELANOMA |
| vities: Comparison of the correlation network in PRE and TRM groups |
| MAPKIs treatment and its association with distinct kynurenine pathway |
| . 39 |
| .tny Controis. |
| ² KP Metabolite Profiles in PRE and TRM Metastatic CMM Patients Compared to |
| ents with CMM |
| Differential expression of enzymes with KP is associated with poor survival in |
| ² R II) |
| JRENINE PATHWAY IN CUTANEOUS MALIGNANT MELANOMA |
| IMMUNOMETABOLIC NETWORK INTERACTIONS OF THE |
| AF V600E compared to BRAF with SKCM |
| 5 Profiling of the correlation network for CD4 + T-cell and KP-related genes in |
| 36 |
| ⁵ IFNγ triggers KYN and KYNA but not 3-HK production in melanoma tumours |
| CD4+ T-cell behavior in co-culture set-up and KYNA production are linked |
| 3 IDO1 inhibition reconstruct CD4+ T-cells proliferation in culture with MCLs 36 |
| L^{2} Inhibition of CD4 + CD25 1 cell profileration by metanoma cell lines (MCL) cisted with KP enzymatic alteration |
| Sur microenvironment |
| Kynurenine pathway-related genes are associated with T-cell status in the |
| |

| 8 | REFERENCES | 5 | 1 |
|---|------------|---|---|
|---|------------|---|---|

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| AADAT | Aminoadipate aminotransferase | | |
|-------------|--|--|--|
| AP-1/AP-2a) | Activating protein 1 and 2α | | |
| BCR | B-cell receptor | | |
| CCBL1 | KYAT1, kynurenine aminotransferase 1 | | |
| CCBL2 | KYAT3, kynurenine aminotransferase 3 | | |
| CD274 | Programmed death-ligand 1;B/-H1, PD-L1 | | |
| CMM | Cutaneous malignant melanoma | | |
| CSF1R | Colony stimulating factor 1 receptor | | |
| CtBP1 | C-terminal-binding protein | | |
| CTL | Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte | | |
| CTLA4 | Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4, CD156 | | |
| DAMPs | Damage-associated molecular patterns | | |
| DTIC | Dacarbazine | | |
| FasL | Fas ligand | | |
| GOT2 | Glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase 2 | | |
| HAAO | 3-hydroxyanthranilate 3,4-dioxygenase | | |
| IDH1 | Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 | | |
| IDO1 | Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 | | |
| IDO2 | Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 2 | | |
| ILT4 | Leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor subfamily B member 2 | | |
| KMO | Kynurenine 3-monooxygenase | | |
| KP | Kynurenine pathway | | |
| KYNU | Kynureninase | | |
| LILRB2 | Leukocyte immunoglobulin like receptor B2 | | |
| LRRC23 | Leucine rich repeat containing 23 | | |
| MAPK | Mitogen-activated protein kinase | | |
| MDSCs | Myeloid-derived suppressor cells | | |
| MHCs | Major histocompatibility complex | | |
| MITF | Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor | | |
| MYC | MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor | | |
| NFκB | Nuclear factor-kappa-light-chain enhancer of activated B cells | | |
| NR | Non-responders | | |
| OXPHOS | Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation | | |
| PAMPs | Pathogen-associated molecular patterns | | |
| PBMCs | Peripheral blood mononuclear cells | | |
| PD-1 | Programmed cell death receptor-1, PDCD1, CD279 | | |
| PD-L2 | Programmed cell death ligand-2, CD273, B7DC, PDCD1LG2 | | |
| PI3K | Phosphoinositide 3-kinases Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit | | |
| PIK3CA | alfa | | |
| PIP3 | Dephosphorylating phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)- trisphosphate | | |
| PRE | Pre treatment | | |
| PTEN | phosphatase and tensin homolog | | |

| PTK | Protein tyrosine kinases |
|-------|---|
| R | Responders |
| SARDH | Sarcosine dehydrogenase |
| SDH | Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) enzyme. |
| SDHB | Succinate dehydrogenase complex iron sulfur subunit B |
| SDS | Serine dehydratase |
| TCRs | T cell receptors |
| TDO2 | Tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase |
| TME | Tumour microenvironment |
| TMZ | Temozolomide |
| TRAIL | TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand |
| Treg | Regulatory T cells |
| TRM | During treatment |
| VEGF | Vascular endothelial growth factor |
| VEGFA | Vascular endothelial growth factor A |

1 INTRODUCTION

Cancer is the second foremost cause of mortality worldwide, and melanoma characterizes the most destructive and lethal form of skin cancer. Despite the various therapeutic approaches, which include surgical resection, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and targeted therapy, metastatic melanoma is a disease with a poor prognosis. The evolution of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) led to a substantial reform in the overall survival of patients. Though, the long-term effectiveness of such treatments is restricted by the sometimes rapidly emerging resistance to treatment. Several molecular mechanisms mediating this resistant phenotype have already been explained. The Kynurenine pathway (KP) activity via indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1), is one mediator of immunosuppression and resistance to ICIs.

In order to facilitate the understanding of the different biological contexts of KP in malignant melanoma, this section is divided into four parts. Part I (1.1), addresses the immune response as a process and introduces critical elements involved in every significant step. Part II (1.2), delineates the dynamic dialogues between tumour cells and the immune system. Part III (1.3) focuses on melanoma, its development, and therapeutic potential. Finally, part IV (1.4) highlights the KP immunosuppressive effect and potential as an immune checkpoint target for cancer immunotherapy.

1.1 THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The immune system is divided into innate and adaptive arms. The former includes a variety of cell types that respond rapidly to invading pathogens. In contrast, the latter is composed of highly specialized cells to eradicate pathogens or prevent their growth and involved in the establishment of immunological memory. We will have a closer look at these processes in the sections below.

1.1.1 The innate, or non-specific, immunity

The innate immunity refers to a non-specific defense mechanism that generally initiates within hours after infections and leads to migration of the antigen carrying antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to lymph nodes and activation fo the residing T and B lymphocytes.

The concept of "danger signal," which was first suggested by Burnet in 1949 and clarified by numerous subsequent studies (1), is the principle of immune protection. In other words, the immune system has been shaped by the evolutionary force to detect standard features of dangerous pathogens, known as the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Infected

healthy cells express the 'kill me' signals, or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), to pledge immune recognitions. APCs receptors specifically bind to PAMPs or DAMPs. Once APCs capture the infected cells upon detection of PAMPs or DAMPs, promote further immune responses by extracting antigens.

NK cells also play a pivotal role in the immediate control of invading pathogens, constitute approximately 5 to 15% of the human peripheral blood (PBMCs) immune cells. They rapidly respond to cells lacking MHC class I surface molecules, which is often caused by viral infections (2,3). In addition, the complement system, which includes a variety of circulating or membrane-associated proteins with enzymatic activities, plays a rapid defensive role through the lysis of microbes. The secondary immunity in many cases will be recruited when rapidly responding immunity is not sufficient to eradicate invading pathogens.

1.1.1.1 The three signals

1.1.1.1.1 Antigen presentation to lymphocytes

The unique surface molecules which are called T cell receptors (TCRs) are essential for the activation and functions of T lymphocytes. TCRs have specific reactivity to a short peptide sequence, which is presented by MHC molecules on the cell surface. Ligation between peptide-containing MHCs on APCs and TCRs can induce intracellular signal transduction cascades required for activation and expansion of T cells. There are two forms of MHCs, MHC Class I and II, which are involved in antigen recognition. TCRs on CD8 + cytotoxic T cells (CTL) specifically bind to MHC class I peptide complexes, while MHC class II peptide complexes are responsible for the presentation of the foreign antigen to CD4 + helper T cells.

1.1.1.1.2 Co-stimulation

In order to reach full activation capacity for T cells, signal transduction mediated by costimulatory molecules on professional APCs must be engaged. B7 family members, such as B7.1 (CD80) and B7.2 (CD86), are an example of co-stimulatory molecules on the membrane of APCs and interact with CD28 on T cells. This ligation to co-stimulatory molecules can enhance T cell activation by stabilizing immune synapses between APCs and T cells. In contrast, co-inhibitory molecules that follow similar principles, negatively regulate T cell functions. This mechanism maintains immune homeostasis upon infection and is involved in tumour mediated immune suppression.

1.1.1.1.3 Cytokines

Cytokines are a group of proteins that bind to their matching receptors to control cell functions. A panel of cytokines released by APCs such as IL-12 potentiates various functions of T cells by stimulating the production of IFN γ , which is a crucial regulator for immune defense (4). Moreover, the cytokine milieu during antigen presentation could shape the fate of activated T cells, particularly in the CD4+ T-cell subset.

1.1.2 The secondary immunity

1.1.2.1 Tlymphocytes

The three signals consequently lead to the clonal expansion of pathogen-reactive T cells and their migration to the site of infections to eliminate target cells. Once CD8+ CTLs identify cells presenting peptides by the MHC class I molecules, they induce apoptosis of target cells through a variety of mechanisms, such as perforin, granzymes, granulysin, or via membrane-bound molecules like FasL or TRAIL. On the other hand, CD4+ T-cells function mainly by producing cytokines. They are categorized into different subsets based on the cytokines that activate them and those released by these CD4+ T-cells. For example, Th1 cells release cytokines such as IFN γ , IL-2, and TNF- α , which promote immune functions of CTLs, macrophages, or NK cells. In contrast, cytokines released by Th2 cells such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-13 and IL-10, coordinate mainly humoral immune responses. It has been proposed that the balance between Th1 and Th2 cells is critical in autoimmunity and cancer (5).

1.1.2.2 Humoral responses

Humoral responses are mediated by the activation of B lymphocytes and antibody production. B cell receptors (BCRs) are membrane-bound immunoglobulins (IgG) that identify distinct antigens. In contrast to TCRs, the presence of MHC-peptide complexes is not required for BCR signaling and B cells can directly recognize microbial surfaces. Consequently, recognition of pathogen by BCRs leads to B cell proliferation and their maturation into antibody-producing plasma cells. This process leads to the induction of antibodies that bind and clear the pathogens through antibody-mediated cellular cytotoxicity. Besides, B cells are equipped with MHC and co-stimulatory machinery, which could activate and amplify antigen-specific T cells (6).

1.2 IMMUNE RESPONSES IN CONTROLLING CANCERS

1.2.1 Historical overview

The interplay between the immune system and cancer has been widely investigated for over 150 years (7). The underlying basis of this interaction has three basic principles to 1) detect antigen from pathogens, 2) function effectively to target and remove the pathogen, and 3) establish immunological memory through the adaptive immune responses (8). On the other hand, the ability of the immune system to eliminate tumor cells provides the platform for immunotherapy. These multifarious processes consist of the three primary phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape, which contribute to the elimination of cancer, dormancy, and progression, respectively (9). Although the first use of immunotherapy for cancer treatments dates back to the early 1800s, by William B. Coley's work (7,10), recent scientific expansions have helped to develop advanced methods of enforcing immunotherapy for cancer more clinically relevant.

1.2.2 Barrier to anti-tumour immunity

Numerous mechanisms mediated by different cell types are involved in tumour-induced immune suppression. The molecular basis of some of these mechanisms is described below.

1.2.2.1 Regulatory T cells

Regulatory T cells (Tregs), which belong to the CD4 + helper T subunits, occur naturally in the thymus and are essential for maintaining self-tolerance under physiological conditions (11). Tregs can be induced in malignancies and inflammation in response to various inflammatory signals, such as IL-10 and TGF- β (12). Tregs express CD25 (IL-2R α) on the surface and the transcription factor FoxP3 intracellularly. Besides, the low expression of CD127 (IL-7R α) in humans was used to define Tregs (13). Tregs are identified as a significant barrier to the immune response to tumours in many in vivo studies. The higher expression of CD25 in Tregs inhibits effector T-cell activation (13). Furthermore, Tregs are potent producers of immune-regulating cytokines such as IL-10 or TGF- β (14,15). These factors have multifaceted effects and facilitate tumour growth and metastasis.

1.2.2.2 Immune checkpoints

Immune checkpoint proteins have attracted growing interest because of their association in cancer growth in recent years. Often, tumour cells can hijack checkpoint pathways to prevent

attacks from the immune system. Thus, many believe that disabling immune checkpoints would support re-engage the body's immune system to fight cancer.

One of the well-characterized immune checkpoints is CTLA-4 (16,17), which is expressed in high levels on activated T cells. CTLA4 is homologous to the T-cell co-stimulatory protein, CD28, and both molecules bind to CD80 and CD86, also called B7-1 and B7-2 respectively, on APCs. CTLA-4 binds CD80 and CD86 with higher affinity and avidity than CD28 and consequently enabling it to surpass CD28 in competition for its ligands (18,19). PD-1, similarly, can down-regulate T cell functions and induce T cell apoptosis by ligation to PD-L1 (20,21), or PD-L2 (22,23). B7-H3 (CD276), and B7-H4 (VTCN1), members of the B7 family were also identified; these proteins are expressed on the surface of APCs and interact with the ligands CD28 (24). Expression of these immune checkpoints on tumour or immunosuppressive cells is known to be critical protective mechanisms that facilitate tumour growth (25,26) and has been found to be some of the most promising therapeutic targets for the treatment of human cancer (section 3.1). Anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (anti-CTLA-4) and anti-PD1 monoclonal antibodies have already shown anti-tumour activity in patients. This finding led to increasing interest in looking into other immune checkpoint proteins to find better treatments for cancer. These immune checkpoints are also responsible for immune homeostasis and the maintenance of tolerance after eliminating pathogens (27).

1.2.2.3 Enzymes and metabolic machinery

Tumour tissues are characterized by high energy consumption levels and altered metabolic profiles, and cancer metabolism not only is crucial in cancer signaling for supporting tumourigenesis and survival, but it also has broader implications in the regulation of anti-tumour immune signaling. Lately, much attention has been devoted to the influence of tryptophan (TRP) metabolic pathways on both tumour cell growth and the host's immune anti-tumour response. Production of various enzymes such as indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) catalyzes TRP to N-formyl-kynurenine. IDO is an important regulatory channel for APCs to modulate T cell functions during antigen presentation through calibrating TRP levels (28,29). Tumour cells and many types of immunosuppressive cells also utilize this pathway to sabotage T cell responses (30).

Besides the direct effects, IDO activity could control other regulatory schemes in the tumour micro-environment, including COX-2/PGE2 pathway (31,32), TGF- β , or IL-10 production (33,34). IDO has been the target of small-molecule inhibitors in clinical development in combination with PD-1 checkpoint inhibitors (35).

1.2.3 Therapeutic outlook

Immunotherapy is proven to be clinically useful in improving the prognosis of many patients with a wide variety of tumours. The main drivers behind this success are immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) and adoptive cell transfer. In this section, I will highlight the major advances in these fields.

1.2.3.1 'Check-point' inhibitors, ICIs

Immune checkpoint molecules negatively regulate immune effector cells by binding to the matching receptors. As discussed in section 2.2.2, CTLA-4 and PD-1 are two well-characterized receptors on T cells, and their therapeutic potentials have been evaluated in preclinical models and clinical studies. In preclinical animal models, blocking CTLA-4 signaling effectively limited tumour growth in mice through activation of T cells (36–39). Ipilimumab, an anti-human CTLA-4 blocking antibody, was approved by the FDA in 2011, which was motivated by results of the landmark phase III clinical trial, which has demonstrated durable survival in metastatic melanoma patients who had failed standard therapies (40–42).

The landmark development of the ipilimumab, have accelerated the research and approval of antibodies blocking against the PD-1 pathway. Apart from the sustained survival benefits that have been achieved in melanoma patients by PD-1 blockade antibodies (43,44), they enabled significant clinical responses in patients not responding to ipilimumab treatment (45–47). This result can be explained by the unique regulatory role of PD-1 on the immune system (48). Notably, PD-1–deficient mice experienced tolerable autoimmune responses (49,50), while mice lacking CTLA-4 proteins developed destructive autoimmunity (51,52). The CTLA-4 and PD-1 receptors serve as two T cell receptors with independent inhibitory mechanisms of action. Based on preclinical studies, CTLA-4 requires an activation threshold to be able to mitigate the proliferation of tumour-specific T lymphocytes (53), while PD-1 performs primarily as a stop signal that attenuates T cell effector function within a tumour. The distinct mechanisms and sites of action of these two inhibitory receptors led to investigations of combined blockade of both in recent years (54).

Additional therapeutic opportunities targeting two PD-1 ligands have also been described, PD-L1 also named as B7H1 (CD274), and PD-L2 also named B7-DC (CD273) which are often expressed on tumour cells or immunosuppressive cell types. A recent investigation of the PD-L1-blocking antibody revealed promising and well-tolerated clinical responses in patients with different solid cancers (55–57). It has also reported that PD-L1 expression in tumour tissues serves as a predictive marker for ICIs therapy (58). However, it should be

noted that this observation remains controversial as the expression of PD-L1 expression can be impacted by external factors such as IFNγ or by other PD-L1 producing cell types such as tumour cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and immune cells (59–62). PD-L2 expression has observed on APCs as well as other immune or non-immune cell types (23,63,64). Similar to PD-L1, PD-L2 inhibits the proliferation of T cells by PD-1 signaling (23). Existing evidence from tumour models confirms utilizing PDL2 blockade as an adjunct to the anti-PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies (65,66). Although blocking of PD-L2 enhanced the anti-tumour effects of other checkpoint blocking agents such as anti-PD-1 / PD-L1 antibodies (67), but, PD-L2 deficient mice displayed more aggressive tumour progression (68). Although clinical approaches for PD-L2 blockade are currently limited due to unknown biological functions, combining anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 strategies may be useful in order to obtain an efficient blockage of the PD-1 pathway. In summary, ICIs have generated encouraging clinical responses and elicited sustainable tumour control in patients with advanced solid tumours. However, current clinical studies have focused is on more immunogenic cancers such as melanoma or lung cancer, while the clinical efficacy of these agents in other cancers is still under investigation.

1.2.3.2 Adoptive cell transfer

Since immune responses can control tumour growth, it is reasonable to assume that the adoptive infusion of highly functional tumour-reactive immune cells may be useful as a therapeutic method. Many investigations have been conducted and have shown fantastic anti-tumour effects. This section is devoted to treatment strategies with activated T cells or NK cells in human solid and hematological malignancies.

1.2.3.3 Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs)

T lymphocytes often infiltrate into solid tumour tissues, which is an independent prognostic factor for clinical outcome in various cancer types. Furthermore, it is commonly believed that the recruitment of T cells in tumour tissues is due to their tumour-targeting properties. TILs recovered from surgically removed tumour tissues treated by high-dose IL-2 have become an attractive treatment option in melanoma patients (69,70). Furthermore, lymphodepletion followed by transfusion of CD4 + and CD8 + T cells positive TILs were shown to be critical factors for clinical efficacy (71–73). Furthermore, melanoma patients treated with TIL achieved survival for longer than three years (74,75). Nevertheless, the major limitation of this approach is the generation of sufficient autologous TILs from individual patients. Therefore, alternative strategies for using genetically engineered T cells were developed to overcome this shortage.

1.2.3.4 Creating anti-tumour T cells through genetic modifications

Recognition of tumour-associated antigens (TAA) by TCR is required for their specific killing of tumour cells (76–78). Shrinkage of tumour burden in various cancer types has reported upon infusion of T cells with TAA-specific TCR (76,79,80).

T cells alternatively can be engineered to express chimeric antigen receptors (CAR-T). Typically, in this structure, the recognition domain of antigen specificity of a monoclonal antibody coupled to intracellular T cell-activating signaling domain with transmembrane spacer molecules. Since the first investigations, several improvements have been introduced, mainly by calibrating the content of intracellular signal domains (81,82). In contrary to TAA-specific T cell, MHC-peptide complexes on tumour cells are not required for the cytolytic function of CAR-T cells. The superior efficacy of CAR T cell therapy has been demonstrated when anti-CD19 CAR T cell treatments in B cell cancers have accomplished striking successes (83–86). Currently, CAR-T cell therapy is developing rapidly, and many ongoing clinical studies are investigating the therapeutic potential of CAR-expressing T cells as a treatment for solid and hematological malignancies (87).

1.3 CUTANEOUS MALIGNANT MELANOMA

Melanoma, a tumour originating from the melanocyte (the pigment producing cells), continues to be highly fatal. Although the majority of melanoma is cutaneous, it can also begin as ocular, mucosal or with unknown primary (88).

Cutaneous malignant melanoma (CMM) maintains a long-standing trend of rapidly uprising incidence and with a comparable trend between males and females (89,90). Figure 1 shows the incidence and mortality rate of skin melanoma in the Nordic countries. CMM is highly curable if discovered early (91), and most risk factors display a small augmented risk alone (box 1) except for genetic syndromes, such as familial malignant melanoma (germ-line mutations in the CDKN2A gene) (92,93).

The Association of Nordic Cancer Registry



Figure 1. statistics based on NORDCAN database showing the incidence and mortality of skin melanoma in Nordic countries: Number of new cases and related deaths in 100,000 individuals, age 0-85+, between years 1950/60-2016.

| Box 1 | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| Risk factors for melanoma development | | | | |
| Gender | | | | |
| Age | | | | |
| Family history of melanoma | | | | |
| Dysplastic nevi | | | | |
| Multiple Number of melanocytic nevi | | | | |
| Fair-skinned races | | | | |
| Sunburns | | | | |
| Indoor tanning | | | | |
| Skin cancer history | | | | |
| https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ | | | | |
| RecommendationStatementFinal/skin-cancer-screening2. Accessed April, 2020. | | | | |

1.3.1 Common aberrations in CMM

Genetic alterations in MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase)/ERK (extracellular-signalregulated kinase) or in RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK pathways has a major role in melanomagenesis. The MAPK/ERK pathway regulates a broad range of fundamental cellular processes, including cell proliferation, differentiation, senescence, survival, transformation and migration (94–96). In CMM, a mutation in RAS or BRAF result in the activation of MAPK/ERK signaling (97). Alteration in the MAPK pathway contributes to the oncogenic transformation of melanoma which results in the uncontrolled growth of melanoma tumours (97–99). The majority of BRAF mutations appear in exon 15, among those, the most frequent BRAF activating mutation occurs in codon 600 (BRAFV600E) that substitutes valine by glutamic acid (100) while a majority of the RAS mutations occur in codon 61(101). In CMM, the prevalence of NRAS mutations is up to 30% (102,103), while approximately 50% of the cases carry BRAF mutations (100,104). Moreover, NRAS and BRAF mutations in CMM are mutually exclusive (105).

Similar to the MAPK/ERK pathway, PI3K (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase)-AKT pathway activation plays a significant role in melanoma. Upon activation of the PI3K pathway, AKT proteins (AKT1-3) are phosphorylated by PDK1 and mTORC2, which activate downstream targets. PI3K/AKT activation is controlled by the tumour suppressor PTEN (106). PTEN mutations lead to AKT activation (107). The tumour-suppressive PTEN activation through dephosphorylating phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)- trisphosphate (PIP3) leads to inhibition of phosphorylation of serine/threonine AKT and inactivating the pathway (108). PTEN loss is correlated to increased invasiveness of the CMMs and decreased overall survival (OS) in patients with BRAF V600E mutated tumours (109).

Genomic alterations in CDKN2A, a tumour suppressor gene, is reported in 44% of CMM (TCGA database: http://cancergenome.nih.gov/) and is associated negatively with patient survival (110). Neurofibromin 1 (NF1, chromosome 17q11.2) is a negative regulator of the RAS signaling pathway, and around 26% of CMMs with wild type BRAF or NRAS carry NF1 mutations (95), while co-occurrence of loss of function mutation in NF1 and BRAF or NRAS mutation is less frequent (96).

Protein kinases (PK) compose of a large family of regulatory proteins that phosphorylates other proteins and usually leads to their activation, has two major subfamilies: serine/threonine kinases (STK) and protein tyrosine kinases (PTK). The most commonly modified serine/threonine kinase in melanoma is the BRAF protein, which harbors V600 mutations in about 50% of CMM patients (100). Similarly, overexpression of the RTKs has been associated with CMM progression (111).

A group of transcription factors has been shown to play pivotal roles during the progression of CMM such as the microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF), nuclear factorkappa-light-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF κ B), activating protein 1 and 2 α (AP-1/AP-2a) and C-terminal-binding protein (CtBP1) (112,113). Genetic variants in DNA repair genes may be especially relevant since their transformed function in response to sun exposure-related DNA damage may be related to risk for CMM (114).

1.3.2 Treatment of CMM

Surgical excision of the primary tumour for early-stage CMM is the standard treatment with a favorable prognosis. Surgery of advanced metastatic disease often has a poor prognosis and, if performed, usually has a palliative role (115). Radiotherapy is usually considered as palliative therapy in metastatic disease. Therapy with chemotherapeutic agents such as

dacarbazine (DTIC) and temozolomide (TMZ) has been the conventional treatment for CMM. However, the response rates were only 5-12%, with a median overall survival of less than one year (116,117). Moreover, immunostimulants such as IL-2 and IFN α have been used to stimulate the immune response against cancer. On the other hand, targeted therapy is defined as small therapeutic molecules that are intended to inhibit specific molecules responsible for uncontrolled proliferation and growth in cancer cells; therefore, they may be more efficient with fewer side effects compared to chemotherapy. Vemurafenib (Zelboraf®) and dabrafenib (Tafinlar®) are two inhibitors for BRAF mutated CMM, which have been approved by the FDA in 2011 and 2013, respectively, with improved PFS and OS (118,119). Today, combination treatment with BRAF-inhibitors and MEK-inhibitor is standard of care since it is associated with better outcome than therapy with BRAF-inhibitors alone (120).

Novel immune therapies, in parallel with targeted drugs, have been developed for CMM. In 2011, ipilimumab (Yervoy®), a monoclonal blocking antibody against CTLA-4, was approved for the treatment of unresectable CMMs. Pembrolizumab (KEYTRUDA®), and nivolumab (OPDIVO®) PD-1 inhibitors, were approved for the treatment of CMM, in 2014 and 2017, respectively. Finally, autologous adoptive T-cell transfer, which refers to an approach of collection, ex vivo expansion, and reinfusion of tumour-infiltrating T-cells (TILs), targets the cancer cell antigen precisely and has shown anti-tumour activity in advanced CMM patients (74).

1.3.3 Therapy resistance in CMM

Drug Resistance poses a major challenge for CMM treatment. For several decades, chemotherapy with DTIC and TMZ has been mostly inefficient due to innate and acquired resistance to treatment (121). Drug resistance in solid tumours has been investigated mainly with regard to epigenetic and genetic modifications. Other factors, such as changes in drug uptake and metabolism and tumour microenvironment (TME), are also suggested to play roles in drug resistance (122).

1.3.4 Biomarker-based prediction of response to therapy for CMM

Despite the tremendous efforts that have been made to enhance outcomes using checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) or targeted therapy, still only a fraction of patient response to the treatment. Therefore, the identification of reliable biological markers that can predict a sustainable therapy response would enable oncologists to identify patients that would benefit from the procedure. This approach may help to personalize the treatments based on a prediction of the therapy response. Moreover, biomarker-based identification of possible non-responders enables the use of alternative treatment options such as a combination of two targeted drugs

or a combination of immunotherapeutic agents. High levels of calcium-binding S100 protein, an example of these group of biomarkers, was shown to correlate to increased tumour angiogenesis, metastatic capacity, and immune evasion in different cancers (123). For example, the importance of S100A9 in cancer is highlighted by a substantial body of evidence. For example, a high density of S100A9 positive immune cells in the tumour stroma of prostate cancer patients was associated with poor clinical outcome (124). Moreover, several studies in murine and human cells have provided strong evidence that S100A9 represents a novel marker for MDSC (125,126). In tumour cells, expression of S100A9 leads explicitly to the more aggressive outcome and metastasis (127). Moreover, S100A9 in myeloid cells is connected with hampered DC differentiation and intensified MDSC formation (126,128). Lastly, increased kynurenine and kynurenine/tryptophan ratios, and consequently, the activity of IDO which is associated with more inferior OS, can be used as predictive markers for the future course in melanoma patients (129).

1.4 METABOLIC INTERVENTIONS IN THE CANCER IMMUNE RESPONSE

The question in the therapeutic dilemma for cancer is how to produce more effective treatments that distinguish between healthy and cancerous tissues. Despite the absence of globally applicable principles, there are two well-accepted theories: first, that malignant conversion goes hand in hand with apparent changes in cellular metabolism; second, that the immune system is crucial for clearance and tumour control. Combining our understanding of immune cell function with tumour metabolism may substantiate to be a powerful approach in the construction of efficient cancer therapies. This section is devoted to describing how nutrient accessibility in the tumor microenvironment (TME) forms immune responses and identifies intervention areas to modulate the metabolic limitations placed on immune cells in this setting.

1.4.1 General overview of metabolism

The word "metabolism" represents a series of connected chemical reactions that begin with one particular molecule and transforms it into other forms through anabolic and catabolic reactions. Anabolism attributes to the synthesis of molecules from its precursors, whereas catabolism refers to the breakdown of molecules and the production of free energy, which is essential to maintain cells and organisms alive (130). The most abundant source of free energy in metabolism is carbohydrates (e.g., glucose), which can be catabolized via glycolysis and the citric acid cycle. Fatty acids can also be metabolized via the citric acid cycle and produce free energy. Amino acids, the third most critical class of small molecules, are the least rich source of free energy (130). Nonetheless, amino acids serve for protein synthesis and therefore are required for living organisms. The term "metabolic regulation" refers to processes that serve to maintain homeostasis at the molecular level (131), by controlling the amounts of enzymes, their catalytic activities, and the substrate accessibility (130).

In mammals, unlike fatty acids and glucose, excess amino acids cannot be stored in the body. Thus, excess amino acids undergo oxidative degradation. The aminotransferases catalyze this reaction by converting amino acid into urea through the urea cycle. In contrast, fatty acids, ketone bodies, and glucose can be constructed from the carbon skeleton of the amino acid (132).

1.4.1 Metabolic diversity in tumours

As previously discussed, cancer progression arises when the immune system cannot destroy or control the growth of nascent tumours due to limited antigen recognition and impaired immune cell function which is caused by nutrient restriction or production of specific metabolites and molecules within TME. The neoplastic cells metabolic flexibility which allows them to adapt to different environments (Box 1), supports their growth and colonization, exacerbate the problem (133). Thus, the etiology of cancer is closely related to both the malfunction of the immune system and metabolism to destroy emerging tumours (133–135).

Metabolic adaptations in cancer can be developed by mutation of oncogenes such as MYC, PTEN and PI3K or changes in specific metabolic enzymes such as IDO, IDH1 or SDH (135-139). Thus, these factors cause a different landscape of cancer cell metabolism and nutrient heterogeneity in TME of various tumour types (139,140), as well as within a single tumour (141). Although malignant transformation usually extend aerobic glycolysis (also known as Warburg metabolism), which mediate an oxygen-independent process of ATP production (139), mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) and other mitochondrial metabolic consequences may also have noticeable roles in cancer metabolism (141,142). The increases in OXPHOS in some tumours, may be supported by oxidation of glucose (143), proteins, and amino acids or fatty acids (144-147). In addition, some tumours may use other sources of energy, such as metabolites or ammonia and lactate which traditionally considered as waste products (141,148–150). Despite the massive effort on exploring the tumour metabolic heterogeneity as an essential aspect of developing immunofocused therapeutics, our understanding of the metabolism of different tumour types at different tissue locations is still limited. Analysis of large bioinformatics databases providing sequence data from thousands of human cancers has shown a correlation between oncogenes and metabolic reprogramming (151–153). Alternatively, the metabolic changes in plasma could be a reflection of changes in immune response and disturbed hematopoiesis, which corresponded to the tumour growth and metastasis formation. Therefore, metabolic profiling of plasma is considered a powerful tool for the identification of biomarkers and altered metabolic pathways in cancer.

1.4.2 Targeting Metabolism for Cancer Therapy

Targeting cancer or immune cell metabolism when combined with existing therapeutic strategies may have the potential to improve cancer treatment. Therefore, selecting critical metabolic pathways (Figure 2) that are differentially engaged in cancer and effector immune cells could be useful.



Figure 2. Potential metabolic targets for combination therapies (154), modified. The scheme is the result of inhibiting key enzymes of diverse pathways that encompass

The scheme is the result of inhibiting key enzymes of diverse pathways that encompass cellular metabolism or regulating the concentration of critical metabolites to fine-tune immune cell function. 3PG, 3-phosphoglyceric acid; Ac-CoA, acetyl-CoA; CAR, chimeric antigen receptor; DC, dendritic cell; F1,6BP, fructose 1,6-bisphosphate; F6P, fructose 6phosphate; G3P, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate; IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cell; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TCA, tricarboxylic acid.

However, broadly targeting metabolic pathways could be argued that targeting them in tumour cells may impair the anti-tumour activity of the immune cells due to the complex interconnectivity of the metabolism of the tumour and immune cells. Interventions intended to redirecting tumour metabolism rather than just killing the cancer cell or repairing metabolite homeostasis could be one strategy to limit the adverse effects on the immune compartment.

Nutrient availability in TME shapes the composition of infiltrated immune cells into tumours (155,156). Infiltrating of the immune cells themselves can decrease the nutritional level in TME, which can potentially contribute to an immunosuppressive milieu. Glucose is an example which is widely used by human tolerogenic DCs, MDSCs, and tumour endothelial cells (157–159), which have been part of the immune-suppressive environment that is allowed for tumour growth and metastasis.

The limitation of glutamine in TME might also support the buildup of Treg cells (160,161). Cytotoxic cells, for example, CD8 + T cells and NK cells, are also susceptible to limitation of amino acid and under conditions of glutamine, serine or glycine deprivation exhibit impaired function (162–165). Essential amino acid TRP depletion in cancer is increasingly being identified as an essential microenvironmental factor that suppresses anti-tumour immune responses. It has been reported that the TRP is catabolized in the tumour tissue by IDO which is expressed in tumour cells or APCs. Depletion of TRP and accumulation of downstream metabolites mediate the immunosuppressive milieu in tumours and tumour-draining lymph nodes by stimulating T-cell anergy and apoptosis (166), and impaired priming capacity of DCs (167). Besides, variations in systemic metabolite concentrations in patients plasma may display metabolic alterations urged by tumours (140) and could present clinically related information. For example, depletion of TRP and elevation of the kynurenine (KYN) level in plasma was detected in various cancer types (168).

Following identification of the kynurenine pathway (KP) as a critical metabolic pathway contributing to immune escape and the central role of IDO in this pathway, an active effort both clinically and preclinically was devoted to the strategies of inhibiting immunosuppressive mechanisms mediated by IDO. Despite promising results in early phase clinical trials in a range of tumour types, a recent clinical trials on investigating the IDO-selective inhibitor epacadostat in combination with pembrolizumab displayed no difference between the epacadostat-treated groups versus placebo in patients with metastatic melanoma

(169). These seatbacks not only refer to the complexity of metabolism but also suggest that the absence of IDO causes TRP to be shunted into other pathways to produce serotonin and melatonin, which may mediate immunosuppression (170,171). Thus, a thorough analysis of TRP pathway metabolic fluctuations or enzymatic activities in patient samples treated with IDO blockade can not only explain the breakdown of IDO inhibitors but it also specifies a way forward in promoting other approaches to inhibit this pathway. Moreover, higher KYN production and elevated KYN to TRP ratios have been introduced as lung cancer biomarkers (172)

1.4.3 The kynurenine pathway metabolism

TRP is an essential amino acid that can only be acquired through the diet, and it serves as a precursor in the manufacture of several important biologically active metabolites, including melatonin, serotonin, and kynurenines (173).

It is estimated that up to 99% of the metabolism of TRP is metabolized via the KP (174,175), with the remaining 1% being converted into serotonin. The KP generates a set of biologically active indole-derived metabolites, termed 'kynurenines (Figure 3). Tryptophan metabolism via the KP leads to the production of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+), which is a crucial component of metabolic processes occurring in all cells. The KP pathway is likely to be involved in a range of diseases, including tumour immune resistance (168,176).



Figure 3. The kynurenine pathway of tryptophan catabolism

Abbreviations: 3-HAAO, 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid oxygenase; IDO, indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase; KATs, kynurenine aminotransferases; KMO, kynurenine monooxygenase or kynurenine hydroxylase; KYNU kynureninase; NAD+, Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; QPRT, quinolinate phosphoribosyltransferase;; TDO, Trp 2,3-dioxygenase.

1.4.4 The kynurenines and therapeutic potential of KYN catabolites

TRP is initially metabolized by IDO and tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO2) into kynurenine (KYN) (177). KYN, as an intermediate metabolite, provides the substrate to three different enzymes producing different metabolites that exert diverse physiological effects. KMO converts KYN into the toxic 3-hydroxykynurenine (3HK) and kynureninase (KYNU) hydrolysis 3-HK to 3-HAA. Kynurenine aminotransferase (KAT; KAT I, II, III, and IV) converts KYN and 3-HK into KYNA and xanthurenic acid (XA). Anthranilic acid (AA) is produced from KYN by kynureninase (KYNU) (178,179). 3,4-dioxygenase (oxidase: 3-HAAO) is the most active among KP enzymes which converts 3HAA into croleyl aminofumarate (2-amino-3-carboxymuconate-6-semialdehyde [ACMS]) and consequently leads to the production of quinolinic acid (QA) and NAD+ (180,181). The creation of these metabolites has generated interest in the KP since these metabolites have crucial roles in inflammation, immunity, and the pathogenesis of neurological disorders (182).

Disturbed KP has clinical and therapeutic implications, and targeting the enzymes involved in this pathway is now used as a strategy to address a variety of immune and neurorological diseases (183–185) (Table 1). The disturbance of TDO2, IDO or accelerated TRP degradation through their induction in some types of cancers and their ability to suppress anti-tumour immune responses, suggests that their inhibition could form a therapeutic strategy (186,187). Many inhibitors have been developed targeting IDO as a modulator of immune responses (188). Among TRP metabolites KYNA, XA, and KYN have the highest ligand activity for the AhR. Activation of the AhR by KYNA may allow specific tumour cells to escape immune surveillance mechanisms by IL-6 secretion (189). Targeting KMO, KYNU, or 3-HAAO has been reported to limit the formation of QA, which involves a variety of neurological conditions (190,191). Theoretically, KMO inhibition should result in an elevation of KYN, KYNA, AA and a decrease in 3-HK and subsequent metabolites (192). KAT inhibition is vigorously used as a strategy to treat schizophrenia (183,184,193). As the KP enzymes perform equally essential role in health and disease and are consequently targeted for therapeutic intervention. Therefore, the KP of TRP degradation is an essential topic for basic and clinical research. Through a wide range of KP enzymes and intermediates, KP outstandingly regulates many critical physiological processes throughout the body and renders multiple opportunities to address multiple disease states.

Table 1. KP enzymes as a therapeutic target, (modified).

| Enzyme | Potential clinical condition t otarget the KP enzymes |
|--------|---|
| TDO2 | Cancer, major depressive disorder, porphyria |
| IDO | Cancer, immune diseases, neurological and neurodegenerative disorders |
| KAT | Schizophrenia, |
| КМО | Schizophrenia, drug dependence, infectious diseases |
| KYNU | Neurodegenerative conditions |
| 3-HAAO | Neurological diseases |
| QPRT | Inflammatory disorders |
| NMPRT | Cancer |
| NNMT | Cancer, diabetes, schizophrenia |
| NADase | Infectious diseases |
| PARP | Cancer, inflammatory, metabolic, and neurological disorders |

Abbreviations: 3-HAAO, 3-hydroxyanthranilic acid oxygenase; IDO, indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase; KAT, kynurenine aminotransferase; KMO, kynurenine monooxygenase or kynurenine hydroxylase; Kynase, kynureninase; NADase, NAD+ glycohydrolase; NMPRT, nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase; NNMT, nicotinamide *N*-methyltransferase; QPRT, quinolinate phosphoribosyltransferase; PARP, poly-(ADP-ribose) polymerase; TDO, Trp 2,3-dioxygenas (177).

1.5 SUMMARY

Immunotherapy modalities such as ICI therapies have revealed a new era of immunooncology by targeting the patient's immune system (194). It is more likely these treatments are affected by the metabolism of the targeted cells which highlights an intimate relationship between checkpoint pathways, and consequently ICIs therapy, with cellular metabolism (195–199). Intensifying the potential of these new strategies will provide a new opportunity for the further assessment of the tumours and the immune system metabolic interaction.

2 AIM OF THE THESIS

The research projects presented in the current thesis aimed to elucidate the therapeutic potential of targeting KP for the treatment of malignant melanoma.

Specific aims were:

- To explore the implication of KP change on CD4 + T-cell function in an *in vitro* coculture model
- To outline immune-metabolic network interactions of KP in CMM patients to explore the link between KP metabolites and regulation of the anti-tumour immune response

• To explore possible KP-related predictive biomarkers of response to ICIs treatment in CMM patients

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Below is a summary of the main methods were employed to reach the aims described earlier. Please refer to the individual articles Of note, for a more detailed description.

3.1 CD4+ AND CANCER CELL CO-CULTURE ASSAYS, AND TREATMENT

To study the implication of KP alteration on CD4+ T-cell function, we established an *in vitro* co-culture model consisting of CD4+CD25- T-cells obtained from healthy volunteers in culture with four different MCLs (BRAF wt and BRAF V600E).

In short, freshly isolated T-cells (CD4+ CD25-) primed overnight with cross-linked anti-CD3/anti-CD28 antibodies. The cellular interactions *in vitro* were assessed by co-culture models using melanoma cell lines (MCLs: BE, DFB, A375, and SK-MEL-28). MCLs were first incubated for 24 hours, and on the following day, MCLs cultured with activated CD4+ T-cells for up to 5 days, in the presence or absence of IFNγ cytokine and IFNγ blocking antibody or Epacadostat (INCB024360: an IDO1 inhibitor). Following quick magnetic, CD4+ T-cells and MCLs were processed for further downstream analysis. For the functional assay, responder T cells were labeled with CFSE and stimulated alone or with preconditioned T-cells for 3-5 days, and proliferation was measured by flow cytometry. Specific details regarding stimulations and co-cultures are specifically given in each publication (Paper I).

Furthermore, to facilitate the study of KP metabolic fluctuation and acquired resistance to MAPKIs, parental A375 BRAF V600E-mutated human melanoma cell line and daughter cell line with induced BRAFi resistance [vemurafenibR4 resistant subline (A375R)] were cultured for a short time (48 h) to measure the kynurenine pathway metabolites in the presence or absence of IFN γ (and TNF α (Paper-II).

3.2 PLASMA SAMPLING AND SAMPLE COLLECTION

To explore the role of KP alteration in CMM patients, plasma samples of CMM patients were collected at two-time points (before and during the first treatment with MAPKIs (n=5, paper I) and with ICIs (n=24, paper II). Furthermore, plasma samples of healthy volunteers (n=5) were included as controls (Paper-II).

3.3 PLASMA PROTEIN DETECTION

3.3.1 LC-MS instrumentation

In the paper I, the TPR and KYN concentration in the medium derived from the *in vitro* coculture of CD4+ CD25– T-cells from three healthy donors and human MCLs were measured by HPLC (high-performance liquid chromatography). However, the analysis of KP metabolites by HPLC is a challenge due to its poor derivative stability, and side reactions. Therefore, HILIC–MS/MS used for the screening of the KP in the co-cultured derived medium.

In paper II, Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) was used for the analysis of KP metabolites in plasma samples due to the outstanding selectivity and sensitivity of this techniques.

In paper IV, high-resolution isoelectric focusing of peptides-liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (HiRIEFLC-MS/MS)-based method was used to analyze the change in protein levels during treatment. Details were described previously (200).

3.3.2 Proximity extension assay (PEA)

In paper II, PEA measurements were performed using 1 μ L of each sample. Briefly, 92 antibody pairs, which are labeled with DNA oligonucleotides, bind to target antigen in the samples. Oligonucleotides will hybridize when the two probes are in close proximity and expand with a DNA polymerase and generate a unique PCR target sequence. This newly created DNA barcode is detected and quantified by PCR; details were described previously (201).

3.3.3 Single-cell RNA sequencing of PBMCs populations

For study III and IV, blood samples were collected from the melanoma patients (n=8), before the first nivolumab infusion and before the third infusion (6 weeks). PBMCs were isolated and cryopreserved until use. 10X Genomics 3' v2 reagent kit was performed in order to capture single cells and library preparation. Single-cell barcoded cDNA libraries were quantified with Qubit[™] dsDNA BR Assay Kit and sequenced on Hiseq 2500 (Illumina, San Diego CA). The Cell Ranger Single Cell Software Suite was used to perform sample de-multiplexing, barcode processing, and single-cell 3' gene counting, and reads were aligned to Ensemble human reference genome GRCh38, using STAR aligner. The Seurat R package Version 2.0 was used for analyses of graph-based cell clustering, dimensionality reduction, and data visualization. The R packages ggplot2 was used for generating the graphics.

3.3.4 Network analysis

In the correlation network analysis, a node represents a kynurenine pathway metabolite or CD4+ T-cell related genes (Paper I, II), genes enriched in TRL and c-MYC signaling pathways (Paper III) and differentially expressed gene in 4 different groups (Paper IV). An edge is determined by statistically significant correlations between genes in two groups. Values are the absolute value of Spearman correlation ≥ 0.5 , which is the highest level of correlation where the network is not fragmented. These values were used to reconstruct networks (202). A network analysis was conducted using a cystoscope (3.4.0).

3.3.5 Additional methods

Flow cytometry: For paper I, the purity of CD4+ T-cells was validated by using a cell surface staining protocol consisting of anti-CD45RA, CD4, CD25, CD8A, CD14, and CD19. Viability and proliferation stainings were performed using a fixable viability dye, eFluor 780, and a cell proliferation dye, carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE), respectively. Recording the flow cytometry was performed on a CyAn ADP 9-Colour Analyser (Beckman Coulter), and single-stained compensation beads (BD CompBeads, BD Biosciences) was used to create the compensation settings. Data of flow cytometry were performed on FlowJo® software (Tree Star).

For paper III, PBMCs were stained directly after purification, and dead cells were excluded using the LIVE/DEAD® Fixable Aqua Dead Cell Stain Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Stained PBMCs were acquired using an LSRII (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer, followed by analysis in the FlowJo v10.x platform (Treestar). CV values and signal to noise ratios were monitored using CS&T beads (BD Biosciences) to ensure consistent flow cytometer performance on a day to day basis. A nonstained control was acquired for each sample, and fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) controls were used to validate critical stainings.

Gene expression analysis (qPCR): TaqMan real-time PCR (Applied Biosystems) was used to quantify mRNA expression of selected genes in cell lines versus drug treatment.

RNA extraction: RNA extraction: RNA was extracted from cell lines and primary CD4+ Tcells with and without treatments using the extraction kits according to the product manual; RNeasy Mini kit from Qiagen.

Luminex: A multiplex bead array assay was performed on a culture medium to measure the concentration of the cytokine. Briefly, individual bead sets (Luminex) were coupled to cytokine-specific capture antibodies following the manufacturer's instructions, the data was

recorded on the Bio-Plex-200 platform and analyzed using the Bioplex Manager® software (version 6.1; Bio-Rad) with a 5-parameter logistic regression algorithm.

Gene silencing and Immonobloting: GenElute Plasmid Miniprep Kit prepared empty vector pcDNA3.1 and wild-type BRAF expression plasmid. SK-MEL-28 and DFB cell lines transfected for 72 h with vectors expressing wild type BRAF or empty control vectors following the standard protocol from Lipofectamine. The whole protein lysates were extracted and used to validate the candidate proteins' expression. The protein concentration was measured using the Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific). The same concentration of the samples was loaded on NuPAGE Novex Bis-Tris Gel (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and then transferred to PVDF membranes (Thermo Scientific, Rockford), according to the manufacturer's standard protocol. Finally, the Chemiluminescent method was used to visualize protein expression.

4 RESULT AND DISCUSSION

In order to achieve the aim described in the earlier section, the role of the kynurenine pathway in the immunobiology of CMM was characterized using the public databases as well as an experimental set-up (paper I). Furthermore, the immune-metabolic network interactions of the Kynurenine Pathway in CMM patients were evaluated to validate the clinical relevance of immune tolerance, which is mediated by KP fluctuation. In this respect, first, this metabolic pathway activity was targeted in CMM patients undergoing MAPKIs therapy (paper II). Next, this evaluation extended into a group of CMM patients with ICIs therapy (paper III and IV). Below is a summary of the main results. Of note, for a more detailed description, please refer to the individual articles.

4.1 EXHAUSTION OF CD4+ T-CELLS MEDIATED BY THE KYNURENINE PATHWAY IN MELANOMA (PAPER I)

In recent years, complementary immune metabolism targeting IDO has been used to expand the response rate of ICIs. However, the blockade of IDO1 and treatment with PD-1 inhibitors in metastatic melanoma have displayed no benefit in survival compared to treatment with a single PD-1 inhibitor. Therefore, it is of interest to investigate an alternative regulatory path in KP, which contributes to the regulation of the CD4+T-cell subset.

In this study, we identified the link between KP with T-cell status in the TME. The TCGA cohort of cutaneous skin melanoma patients (SKCM) gene expression data have been utilized. Based on the observed correlations, KYN, 3-HK, and KYNA production *in vitro* were characterized using melanoma-derived BRAF wild type (wt) and BRAF V600E mutant

cell lines in culture with CD4+ CD25- T-cells. Moreover, correlation networks for CD4+ Tcells and KP-related genes in BRAF V600E compared with BRAF wt has generated to investigate the link between CD4+ T cell status and KP profile.

4.1.1 Kynurenine pathway-related genes are associated with T-cell status in the tumour microenvironment.

Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) is considered to be a positive prognostic marker for various malignancies, and elevated levels of TILs have been linked to better clinical outcomes and longer-term survival for melanoma patients. To investigate whether the kynurenine metabolic pathway and T cell status are associated in the TME, SKCM in the TCGA cohort were separated into groups with low and high T cell signature gene expressions. Spearman correlation coefficient analyses were conducted on KP-related and T-cell status-related genes showing that the expression of *IDO1*, *IDO2*, *KYNU*, and *KMO* and T cell status-related genes are connected.

4.1.2 Inhibition of CD4 + CD25 T cell proliferation by melanoma cell lines (MCL) associated with KP enzymatic alteration

To illustrate how melanoma tumours affect CD4 + CD25 T cells, pre-activated primary CD4 + CD25 T cells (obtained from healthy donors) were cultured with MCLs (V600E and V600 wild type), for five days. Although CD4 + T-cells had a higher expression of CTLA4 and FOXP3 in culture with MCLs, their proliferation and IFN γ production were considerably reduced. Besides, CD4 + T-cells had a higher expression of CTLA4 and FOXP3 in culture with MCLs. These observations collectively may suggest the evolution of an exhausted phenotype of CD4 + T-cells. To assess whether CD4+ T-cells exhaustion and KP reprogramming are associated, KP metabolite concentration was measured with HILIC - MS/MS in cultured derived medium (cell type alone or cultured with CD4+ T cells) after 48 hours. This analysis revealed that co-cultured derived medium had a notable drop in TRP, 3-HK level, and higher level of KYN, KYNA when compared to the medium of MCLs and CD4 + T-cells alone.

Thus, we asked if KYN and KYNA elevated levels stimulate an exhausted phenotype of CD4+ T-cells upon exposure to MCLs. For this purpose, mRNA and protein expression of IDO1, IDO2, TDO2 mediating the KYN production, were compared in both CD4 + T-cells and MCLs. Only greater expression of IDO1 was identified in co-cultures compared to MCL alone, suggesting a higher activity of IDO1 in a co-culture setting.

4.1.3 IDO1 inhibition reconstruct CD4+ T-cells proliferation in culture with MCLs To further examine whether IDO1 inhibition and KYN depletion can resume CD4+ T-cell proliferation, MCLs were cultured for 48 hours with CD4+ T-cells with or without IDO1 inhibitor INCB024360 (Epacadostat). CD4+ T-cells proliferation was retrieved in culture with MCLs, while the IDO1 inhibition in co-culture set-up resulted in lower KYN production. IDO1 blockade also led to inferior CTLA4 protein expression from CD4+ T-cells in culture with MCLs. CD4+ T-cells in culture with BRAF wt, interestingly, were more proliferative when treated with IDO1 blockade, which may suggest that mutation background of MCLs, KP metabolites profile and distinct CD4+ T-cell behavior in co-culture set-up are linked.

4.1.4 CD4+ T-cell behavior in co-culture set-up and KYNA production are linked To further explore KP metabolite's role in CD4+ T-cell behavior, CD4+ T-cell proliferation and KP metabolites were assessed independently. We found CD4+ T-cells cultured with BRAF wt MCLs were less proliferative. On the other hand, no notable differences were detected in KYN production among different MCLs. We then explored the role of TRP depletion on CD4+ T-cell proliferation by adding TRP to the culture which was not able to rescue the CD4+ T cell proliferation. However, KYNA production, as well as PD-L1 and AHR mRNA expression, were higher in V600 wt MCLs cultured with CD4+ T-cells. On the This remark suggests that PD-L1 and AHR expression may lead to elevated KYNA and CD4+ T-cell exhaustion. We, therefore, evaluated the effect of KYNA production on CD4 + T-cell proliferation.

To explore the link between KYNA and CD4 + T-cell exhaustion, CD4 + T-cells were treated with various concentrations of KYNA. CD4 + T-cell proliferation and IFN γ production were measured on day five which reveals the CD4 + T-cell proliferation and IFN γ production may be affected negatively by KYNA.

In an effort to verify the link between BRAF status to CD4 + T-cell exhaustion, V600E cell lines (SK-MEL-28 and DFB) were transiently transfected with an expression vector encoding BRAF wild type and co-cultured with CD4 + T-cell for five days. The measurement of proliferation and IFN γ production of CD4+ T-cells on day five supports that BRAF wt phenotype are more prone to induce the exhausted phenotype in CD4+ T-cells compared to BRAF V600E.

4.1.5 IFNγ triggers KYN and KYNA but not 3-HK production in melanoma tumours

Due to the close association between KP activation and inflammatory stimuli, Th1 cytokine profile such as IFN γ , TNF α , IL-2 and Th2 cytokine profile such as IL-4, IL 2 and IL-10 were implemented on culture medium and measured using a multiplex Luminex assay. IFNy and TNF α were the main cytokines that were secreted by CD4 + CD25-T cell activation. IL-2 production in the co-culture setting was not altered. Additionally, MCLs were treated with recombinant human IFN γ and TNF α for 48 hours in order to explore their role in KP activation. While no changes were observed in IDO1 expression or KYN production following TNF α treatment, IFN γ treatment was able to induce KYN, KYNA, and AA production, however, 3-HK production remained very low. In addition, CD4 + T-cells in culture with conditioned medium (CM) derived from IFNy-treated MCL were less proliferative compared to CM derived from MCLS + CD4 + T-cell co-culture. This may partially explain by the KYNA induction. In addition, KYNA production in BRAF wt was higher than BRAF V600E MCLs. Interestingly, CD4 + T-cells, when co-cultured with MCLs, had lower KMO mRAN expression, suggesting that KMO regulates the levels of KYNA and may also be an attractive candidate that controls the KP in tumour immunity. On the other hand, KYN production was induced in MCLs after IFNy treatment, but there was no meaningful change between KYN productions in control group. This result suggests that CD4 + T-cell exhaustion in the co-culture system may be due to elevated KYNA production.

4.1.6 Profiling of the correlation network for CD4 + T-cell and KP-related genes in BRAF V600E compared to BRAF wt with SKCM

Our previous results suggest that the mutation status of MCLs and KP metabolites concentration in the co-culture setting may mediate the distinct CD4+ T cell phenotype. We, therefore, evaluated whether KP retains different anti-tumour CD4 + T-cell immune responses in BRAF V600E compared to BRAF wt in a larger cchort. The CD4 + T-cells and KP related genes were extracted from PubMed. The correlation network between CD4 + T-cells and KP-related genes were reconstructed for each group (BRAF V600E & BRAF wt) using these Spearman correlation values. The differences between these two networks were visualized by DyNet which led to the identification of structural differences between two networks. Collectively, these results support our earlier finding in the co-culture set-up and suggest that KMO and KYNU pivotal role in the distinct CD4 + T-cell behavior in tumour immunity. Taken together, KP and CD4 + T-cell interactions in the BRAF wt and V600E networks suggest that kynurenine metabolism may play a vital role in the dysregulation of the immune response of the anti-tumour CD4 + T-cell.

Discussion:

Here, to facilitate our investigation on how KP changes were implemented on CD4 + T-cell function, we established an *in vitro* co-culture set- up consisting of CD4 + CD25 T cells and different MCLs (BRAF wt and BRAF V600E). The analysis of the SKCM-TCGA database, in support of our results, revealed a robust correlation between KP enzymes and T cell exhaustion. Furthermore, higher KYN and KYNA were closely connected to anergic phenotype in CD4 + T-cells, with defects in proliferation. Collectively, our data propose that in addition to IDO1 and KYN, other kynurenine metabolites and enzymatic activity may regulate CD4 + T-cell immunity. Besides, KMO may serve as an attractive candidate for regulating the KP in tumour immunity.

4.2 IMMUNOMETABOLIC NETWORK INTERACTIONS OF THE KYNURENINE PATHWAY IN CUTANEOUS MALIGNANT MELANOMA (PAPER II)

It has been reported that patients in many types of cancer have elevated KP activity and IDO expression by tumour cells can suppresse T-cell activity (203), and its expression has been connected to poor prognosis in CMM and other cancers (203). It was also described that there is a connection between higher KYN, 3-HK, and KYNA plasma levels and more aggressive forms of breast cancer and glioblastoma (204,205). However, not only KP metabolic dysregulation has not yet been entirely described in CMM patients, but also our understanding of the impact of treatment such as MAPKIs on KP machinery in these groups of patients is limited. Therefore, this study aimed to assess immune-metabolic network interactions of KP in CMM to explore the link between KP metabolites (KPMs) and regulation of the anti-tumour's immune response. The LC-MS/MS and proximity extension analysis (PEA), respectively were utilized to measure the plasma levels of KPMs and immune-related proteins in healthy volunteers and CMM patients before and during treatment with MAPKI.

4.2.1 Differential expression of enzymes with KP is associated with poor survival in patients with CMM.

TCGA database were utilized to gain further insight into the mutations, copy number changes, and expression profiles of KP enzymes. The TCGA melanoma cohort is consisting of 479 samples (<70% CMM; stage II, and III) from patients without neoadjuvant therapy before tumour resection were analyzed for this purpose. Our analysis revealed that metastatic

melanoma and breast cancer are the two types of cancer with the highest burden of gene changes in KP related enzymes. The most considerable proportion of KP gene mutations (> 20%) was found in melanoma patients. And KAT members have the highest mutation rate within the KP. In addition, we found that genetic changes in KAT responsible for KYNA production from KYN were connected to the poor survival of melanoma patients in the TCGA cohort. Further studies with Human Protein Atlas, CBio portal in healthy skin and CMM lesion (steps III and IV), show more extensive mRNA/protein expression of CCBL1 and CCBL2, among other KATs. It is important that CCBL1 change is correlated with poor prognosis in CMM patients, while KYNU is linked to better outcomes (p <0.05), which may indicate that the KP enzymes have another inherent mechanism of action. KMO expression is not detected in healthy skin, as reported earlier, or melanoma tumours. In contrast, the protein expression of KYNU is inferior compared to CCBL1 and CCBL2 in both healthy skin and melanoma tumours. Further analyses using a TCGA cohort showed that BRAF mutation background and distinct KP profile might be connected.

4.2.2 KP Metabolite Profiles in PRE and TRM Metastatic CMM Patients Compared to Healthy Controls

In this study, we aimed to validate our previous observation and explore KP change in plasma to describe the role of KP in CMM patients. Therefore, LC-MS/MS was performed on plasma samples, which were collected from CMM patients, before (PRE) and during the first treatment (TRM) with MAPKIs as well as five healthy individuals (as controls). The downstream metabolites of the KP, including TRP, KYN, KYNA, 3-HK, AA, 3HAA, and XA, were analyzed. We found that CMM patients have lower levels of 3-HK and 3HAA compared to healthy controls. Therapeutic intervention with MAPKIs led to a higher level of 3-HK and 3HAA in TRM plasma samples. These results suggest that the 3-HK and 3HAA may serve as predictable metabolites in CMM. Moreover, a higher 3-HK/KYN ratio in healthy individuals and a higher XA/3-HK ratio was in melanoma patients were observed. In summary, this result suggests that melanoma patients have a higher buildup of KYN and a lower concentration of 3-HK and 3HAA in plasma compared to healthy individuals.

4.2.3 MAPKIs treatment and its association with distinct kynurenine pathway activities: Comparison of the correlation network in PRE and TRM groups

In the patient group, we assessed whether there is a relationship between treatment and altered KPMs concentrations in human plasma proteins in PRE and TRM samples with MAPKIs therapy. Correlation network analyses were executed on plasma immune-related proteins and KPMs in PRE and TRM groups. Our result indicates the distinct characteristics of the PRE and TRM networks.

Moreover, therapeutic intervention with MAPKIs led to considerable changes in 3-HK levels in CMM plasma samples. Additionally, 3-HK and KYNA in PRE network interacted with a group of proteins that were enriched in the angiopoietin receptor Tie2 and tyrosine phosphatase SHP2 signaling, which negatively regulate Th1 differentiation.

On the other hand, The TRM network identified a set of proteins which mainly enriched in processes involved in Th1/Th2 differentiation, IL12-mediated signaling events, and TLR signaling.

Besides, analyses of mass spectrometry-based proteome analysis, which was performed on parental A375 and MAPKI-resistant sublines (A375R), displayed that the KYNU expression was higher in the A375 cell line. KYNU was also correlated with a group of proteins that is enriched in the activation of the mTORC1 signaling pathway in these data sets. It has previously reported that TRP depletion can suppress the mTORC1 pathway and, therefore, cell cycle arrest and T-cell energy (206,207). Thus, we suggested that KYNU expression in A375R may contribute to the acquisition of resistance to MAPKIs. Taken together, these results support that therapeutic intervention of MAPKIs leads to different KP metabolic trajectories in PRE and TRM CMM groups.

Discussion:

Collectively, Correlation network analyses of data resulting from PEA and LC/MS-MS characterized a group of proteins that modify the differentiation of Th1 cells, which is related to 3-HK levels. Besides, MAPKIs treatments and alteration of 3-HK and 3HAA concentrations which linked T and NK cell activation. These results suggest that KP is pathologically relevant in CMM patients.

4.3 THE IMMUNE CELL COMPOSITION OF PBMCS IN MELANOMA PATIENTS AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH RESPONSE TO NIVOLUMAB (PAPER III)

Despite these encouraging results, the clinical outcomes remain very variable; only a small fraction of patients show sustainable responses. Therefore, there is a need for predictive biomarkers and a more in-depth mechanistic examination of the cellular populations is required in clinical response. Here, PBMCs of patients diagnosed with CMM were collected before and during the treatment to examine immune signatures associated with clinical response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. We then conducted single-cell RNA seq analysis together with an interactive bioinformatics pipeline to produce a thorough analysis of

peripheral blood immune cells to identify response associated predictive signatures. We further validated our observation in an independent cohort by flow cytometry.

4.3.1 Stratification of therapy response using single-cell profiling of immune cells in melanoma patients treated with nivolumab

In order to study the association of peripheral blood immune cells with clinical response to checkpoint therapies, scRNA-seq analyses were performed on cells isolated from PBMC obtained from eight metastatic melanoma patients treated with first-line PD-1 inhibitor therapy (nivolumab), either sampled at baseline or during treatment. We used the following patient response categories defined by RECIST criteria: complete response (CR) and partial response (PR) for responders and progressive disease (PD) for non-responders. To relate molecular and cellular factors with the response to therapy, we classified each of the eight samples based on radiological assessments in progression/non-responders (NR; n = 4, including PD samples) or regression/responders. To determine the immune landscape in an unbiased manner, unsupervised clustering of 50,000 cells were used to identify 11 cell clusters, with two B cell clusters (clusters 7 and 10), two myeloid clusters (1 and 6), two CD4 + T-cell clusters (cluster 0 and 2) and five clusters enriched for CD8 + T / NK / NKT cells. While each patient presented changes in cluster frequencies between baseline and posttreatment samples, there were no significant changes when collecting all samples. When considering therapy response versus non-response for each patient, cluster 1 (monocytes) frequencies were higher in non-responders. Interestingly, a higher ratio of CD4 + T-cells to monocytes was associated with a better response. Our analysis thus identified distinct cell populations associated with the clinical outcome of nivolumab therapy.

4.3.2 Characterization of monocytic cell heterogeneity and its association with therapy response

Following our observation regarding the composition of the frequency of monocytes and the relationship between CD4 + T-cells and monocytes with clinical results, we aimed to look closer into these two subtypes. We found that most responders had a cell count for CD4 + T-cells/monocytes>2, and most non-responders had a ratio<1 for both baseline and posttreatment samples.

Furthermore, immune cell type-specific gene markers were used to annotate monocytic subtypes showing that cluster 1 and 6 cluster have distinct gene expression patterns; we called them monocyte and monocyte-1, respectively. Despite the insignificant statistical power, the frequency of monocyte-1 was inversely associated with clinical response. We further

identified markers in monocytes associated with insufficient response. These analyses revealed monocyte-related markers associated with a lack of response to checkpoint therapy.

On the other hand, CD4 + T-cells in the responding patient group had higher expression of a set of genes, which is enriched for leukocyte activation, T-cell differentiation, and Tfollicular helper cell differentiation, gene ontology (GO) terms, using Gene Set Enrichment assay (GSEA). Furthermore, after the first treatment in the responding patient group, CD4 + T-cells had higher expression of a set of genes that are enriched in the regulation of adaptive immune response. T-cell mediated cytotoxicity, and interferon-gamma-mediated signaling pathway, GO terms. In contrast, CD4 + T-cells in the non-responders had higher expression of PPP2R2D, KPNA6, MYCBP, TRMT61B, RAB18, ARID3B, CSTB, EDEM3, IWS1, *C8orf44*, *PIGL*, and *PDK3* enriched in the mTOR and VEGF signaling pathway. Similarly, GSEA assay performed on DE genes identified a set of genes involved in TLR signaling cascade, which is upregulated in NR group monocytes compared to the R group. Parallel analyses of the DE gene in CD4 + T-cells identified a set of genes enriched in the c-MYC signaling pathway. This observation may support the link between TLR and the c-MYC signaling cascade. Finally, protein-protein interaction (PPI) network analyses of genes involved in the TLR and c-MYC signaling pathways show that these two networks are connected

4.3.3 S100A9 expression in monocytes and response to PD-1 blockade

Our results generated by scRNA-seq analysis of PBMC in an initial detection group of melanoma patients indicated that *S100A9* expression with cluster 1 (monocytes) was one of the most differentially expressed genes between responding and not responding to anti-PD1 therapy. Most importantly, this demonstrated that low S100A9 levels in CD14+ cells were strongly associated with clinical responsiveness to anti-PD1 therapy. This raised the possibility that S100A9 expression in monocytes could serve as a predictive biomarker for a clinical outcome for this type of treatment. This is in line with existing evidence that S100A9 can indeed act as a prognostic marker for cancer, as well as a new marker for MDSC (124,125). Therefore, we decided to validate our results with scRNA-seq analysis in an independent cohort of patients with metastatic melanoma (n = 20) undergoing anti-PD1 therapy. Parameters studied were frequencies for all monocytes and S100A9 + monocytes within PBMC, while the ratio of CD4 + T-cells to S100A9 + monocyte frequencies within the total PBMC population were investigated. Group-wide comparisons studied each of these parameters after stratification

according to progression-free survival (PFS) in patients either shorter (n = 9) or longer than six months (n = 11). No differences were found between patient groups with long and short PFS in the frequency of monocytes. After determining a cut-off value of 20.1%, there are no differences in survival between groups with high or low frequencies of monocytes. Interestingly, when analyzing S100A9 + monocytes, we found that their frequencies were significantly higher in patients with short PFS. In addition, patients with S100A9 + monocyte frequencies higher than 15.3% showed a significantly lower overall survival compared to patients with frequencies lower than 15.3%. The relevance of monocyte populations was further confirmed when comparing the CD4 + T-cell/monocyte ratio between long and short PFS patients. In this case, patients with prolonged PFS showed a significantly higher CD4 + T-cell/monocyte ratio, which also resulted in an OS benefit. These differences showed higher statistical significance when considering the CD4 + T-cell/S100A9+ monocyte ratio. A similar analysis was also done for ratios of all and S100A9 + monocytes with CD8 + T cells, but there were no differences. Taken together, while scRNA-seq data indicate that the frequency of monocytes is inversely correlated with overall survival, results from multicolor cytometric analysis in a more extended patient group indicate that it is the relative size of the S100A9+ monocyte subgroup within the total PBMC population that is the strongest determinant for survival after anti-PD1 therapy.

Discussion:

Our findings demonstrate the elevated monocytes+S100A9 in the PBMCs of the CMM patients who are not responding to the PD-1 inhibition and highlights the therapeutic potential of S100A9. Moreover, a higher CD4+T-cells/monocyte ratio was associated with a better response to this therapy. Detailed knowledge of the functionality of S100A9+ monocytes is of high translational relevance. Therefore, the monocytic population play pivotal role in the outcome of the PD-1 blockade treatment, and the expression of S100A9 proteins is possible predictive biomarkers.

4.4 KYNURENINE PATHWAY ACTIVITY PREDICT PRIMARY RESISTANCE TO IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE IN CUTANEOUS MALIGNANT MELANOMA (PAPER IV)

Despite the tremendous success of ICIs in the treatment of CMM, still the vast majority display primary or acquired resistance. Therefore, there is a need for predictive biomarkers as well as more in-depth mechanistic insight into a clinical response. The field of immune metabolism is an attractive alternative strategy, and several studies have introduced

numerous metabolic players that serve as critical points for immune homeostasis and immunity against tumours. KP activity via IDO and tryptophan degradation has been characterized as a possible mechanism of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. KP suppresses immunity by several different mechanisms including the direct immunosuppressive role of KYN or downstream metabolic mediators of KYN metabolism. Therefore, we aimed to explore the KP alteration in CMM patients undergoing therapy with ICIs, trying to deconvolute its potential contribution to resistance to ICIs therapy. In this respect, HiRIEF LC-MS/MS and scRNA-seq were performed on plasma samples, and PBMCs collected from CMM patients.

4.4.1 Elevated plasma concentration of kynurinase (KYNU) in CMM patient and its association with clinical response

To characterize the KPs fluctuations and their role in CMM patients, we performed LC-MS / MS analysis on plasma samples derived from (n = 24) CMM patients, before (PRE) and during the first treatment (TRM) with ICIs. All KP-related enzymes were analyzed, and only elevated KYNU expression in PRE-CMM patients was associated with poor clinical outcomes. Furthermore, in PRE-CMM patients in the non-responsive (NR) group was KYNU correlated with 48 proteins (DE) with a high representation of genes involved in the immune system and metabolism. However, when comparing KYNU expression in PRE-CMM patients with the TRM group, no notable changes were reported. These results suggest that KYNU levels may be linked to CMM patient responsiveness to ICIs.

4.4.2 KYNU cell-type-specific induction in CMM patients

Following our observation of elevated plasma KYNU level in NR-CMM patients in response to ICIs, we then aimed to explore the KP enzyme expression specificity in various immune cell types within PBMCs. To this end, scRNA-seq analysis were performed on CMM patients PBMC (n = 8) before and during the first treatment (TRM) with ICIs. Our study showed that clusters 1 and cluster 6, which have been identified as monocytes, have the highest expression of KYNU in NR, PRE CMM groups. On the other hand, from 49 plasma proteins which differentially expressed in NR groups, 12 of these markers were explicitly expressed by monocytes (Cluster 1) such as BLVR4, CAPN2, GSTO1, GUSB, LAP3, LMNB1, NQO2, PSMB8, PSME1, PYGL and LGALS3 were also associated with unfavorable clinical outcome. The other remaining two genes (HLA-B, HLA-DPB1), were expressed by several other cell types. This result suggests that monocytic specific expression of KYNU in CMM patients.

4.4.3 KYNU-LGALS3 network in monocytes is connected to CD74-MYC network in CD4 + associated with clinical outcome in CMM patients

It has been previously reported that KP metabolic alteration and consequently, KP enzymatic activities linked to the exhausted phenotype of CD4 + T-cells. In our recent work, we reported that the ration of monocytes to CD4 + T-cell was an indication of inadequate response to ICIs (Unpublished, Rad Pour S., et al., 2020). Therefore, we evaluated whether KYNU-high expression in monocytes has any suppressive effect in CD4 + T-cells in a group of patients who do not respond to ICI treatment. Therefore, we first examined any association between highly connected plasma proteins to KYNU and their expression in PBMCs of CMM patients. We found that except HLA-B and, HLA-DPB1, other markers expressed by monocytes (cluster1 and 6) and their elevated expression are associated with inadequate response. HLA-B, and HLA-DPB1 were expressed by various cell types (Supplemental Fig. 3A-B). On the other hand, higher expression of *MYC* and *CD74* were detected in the NR group in CD4+ T-cells.

Spearman correlation analysis between KYNU, LGALS3 in Monocytic subtypes, and MYC and CD74 in CD4+ T-cell subtypes in PRE CMM-identifies a set of genes in each group, using GSEA analyses in the Molecular Signatures Database. Finally, to examine the possible role of the KYNU induction in regulating the CD4+ T-cell, a PPI network was generated by merging all identified DE genes in each group (total node= 171). MYC has the highest number of connections with (n=24) compared with CD74 (n=8), LGAS3 (n=6) and KYNU (n=2). More interestingly, they are connected either directly, such as LGALS3 and MYC or indirectly via intermediary proteins such as CD74 and KYNU. These results support that LGALS3, MYC, CD74, and KYNU are biologically connected, and perturbing their interaction will possibly modulate ICIs efficacy in CMM patients.

Discussion:

In this study, we found that KYNU and LGALS3 expression in protein and RNA levels negatively linked to clinical outcomes of CMM patients treated with ICIs therapy. Moreover, PPI analyses revealed that the KYNU-LGALS3 network in monocytes is connected to the CD74-MYC network in CD4+ T-cell. These results suggest that LGALS3, MYC, CD74, and

KYNU are biologically connected, and perturbing their interaction will possibly modulate ICIs efficacy in CMM patients.

5 CONCLUSIONS

(PAPER I) In this study, the association between the KP with T-cell status in the TME was first, identified in SKCM- TCGA dataset. We then established an *in vitro* co-culture set-up consisting of CD4+CD25- T-cells in culture with MCLs to investigate the outcome of KP alteration on CD4+ T-cell function. We then characterized the production of KYN, 3-HK, and KYNA *in vitro* using MCLs and primary CD4+ CD25– T-cells. We also found that frequency of IFN γ producing CD4+ T-cells associated with elevated levels of KYN and KYNA. Simultaneously, the proliferation of CD4+ T-cells and KMO expression were reduced, while exhaustion markers such as PD-L1, AHR, FOXP3, and CTLA4 were augmented. Our results conclude that there is an alternative immune regulatory mechanism in addition to IDO1 which is associated with the lower KMO expression and the higher KYNA production, which contributes to dysfunctional effector CD4+ T-cell response.

(PAPER II) By following up on the immune regulatory role of KP discussed in paper I, we aimed to investigate the KP alteration in CMM patients tumour environment. Therefore, plasma samples of the CMM patients were collected before (PRE) and during treatment (TRM) with MAPKIs. Proximity extension assay (PEA) and LC/MS-MS were performed on these samples. Correlation network analyses of the PRE CMM patients samples revealed that lower 3-HK concentration might negatively contribute to the differentiation of Th1 cells. On the other hand, CMM patients treated with MAPKIs have shown a higher concentration of 3-HK and 3HAA as well as higher "CXCL11" and "KLRD1" protein expression in their plasma. This result proposes that melanoma patients may have a higher accumulation of KYN and a lower concentration of 3-HK and 3HAA in plasma. Therefore, KP holds a different trajectory and path in healthy individuals compared with CMM patients.

(PAPER III) In order to find predictive markers for PD-1 checkpoint -based immunotherapy, scRNA-seq's analyses of PBMCs (n=8) as well as an in-depth immune monitoring study (n=24) were carried in CMM patients treated with nivolumab. Blood samples were collected before treatment and at the time of second doses. A lower ratio of two distinct cellular populations, CD4+ T-cells to monocytes and a higher level of monocytes, were inversely associated with overall survival. Our results produced by scRNA-seq analysis of PBMC in an initial discovery cohort of melanoma patients showed that S100A9 expression by

monocytes in cluster 1 was one of the most differentially expressed genes between responders and non-responders to anti-PD1 therapy. Most importantly, this revealed that low S100A9 levels in CD14+ cells were considerably associated with clinical responsiveness to anti-PD1. Furthermore, analyzing S100A9+ monocytes indicated that their frequencies were significantly higher in patients with short PFS. The relevance of monocytic populations was further confirmed when the CD4+ T-cell/monocyte ratio was compared between long and short PFS patients. Our result suggests that the frequency of monocytes is inversely correlated with survival and clinical benefit. Therefore, the monocytic population can be critical in the outcome of the PD-1 blockade treatment and the expression of S100A9 proteins are possible predictive biomarkers.

(PAPER IV) In this study, we found that KYNU and LGALS3 expression in protein and mRNA levels negatively linked to clinical outcomes of CMM patients treated with ICIs. Additionally, KYNU and LGAlS3 have shown a cell-type-specific pattern in PBMCs, in which monocytes have significantly higher expression of KYNU and LGALS3 compared with other cell types.

Moreover, differential network and protein-protein interaction analyses revealed that the KYNU-LGALS3 system in monocytes is connected to the CD74-MYC network in CD4+ T-cell. These results support that LGALS3, MYC, CD74, and KYNU are biologically associated, and perturbing their interaction will possibly modulate ICIs efficacy in CMM patients. Our work suggests that the expression of KYNU in monocytes is inversely correlated with survival and clinical benefit. Therefore, not only can the monocytic population can be crucial in the outcome of the ICIs, but also the KP activity serves as an influential factor in the ICIs outcome.

6 REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

While the KP is responsible for the production of the necessary cofactor NAD+, many of the pathway catabolites play roles in a variety of disease states. The engagement of the KP enzymes and catabolites in cancer arises via both immune and nonimmune machinery. Much attention has been dedicated to determining the role played by IDO in enabling tumour immune escape via TRP depletion. While the role played by other enzymes, such as KYNU, KMO, or KATs—which modulate the immune response by producing 3-HAA, 3-HK, and KYNA, respectively, is not yet described. Further to this, the involvement of KP downstream enzymes and catabolites in tumour progression is not yet well discussed.

Here, we have explicitly reported that elevated plasma level of KYNU in CMM patients is associated with poor response to the ICIs therapy. This result basically demonstrates the clinical relevance of KYNU, the downstream enzymes of KP, which mediate the production of AA and eventually 3HAA. Further validation of this observation by scRNA-seq profiling of CMM patients immune cell type (PBMCs) treated with ICIs, not only supports that elevated KYNU expression is linked to the clinical outcome but also reported that only monocytes have shown the differential expression of KYNU. However, we need to develop more efficient ways of analyzing and evaluating the role of the KYNU in a clinical setting by in-depth metabolic analysis on the KP as a complex system.

Further efforts must be applied for the implementation of state-of-the-art analytical tools to assess the KUNU enzymatic function in the tumour microenvironment. Finally, additional attempts should be made to assess the druggability of KYNU as strategy to enhance the treatment response in CMM patients.

What is clear from this study is that the KP is of great importance in CMM and therefore characterizes as a crucial metabolic checkpoint for the development of future cancer immunotherapy methods. Therefore, it is likely that we will soon witness not only the discovery of additional physiological and pathological roles for KP activity but also an increasing interest in drug development based on these roles. Specifically, by targeting the KP with novel pharmacological or genetic manipulation, it may be possible to enhance the treatment response in CMM patients.

7 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

During these years of education, I have met people who have truly inspired and helped me in different ways, and I would like to express my deepest gratitude to every one of them. My main supervisor **Jesper**, from the first day I started sending you many emails constantly during summertime till now, you have proven to be one the most caring supervisor with a big heart and great personality. Your passion for science and being always available to discuss my projects in long and numerous meetings is deeply appreciated. Thank you so much for all the help and support. I wish you all the best in your personal and scientific life.

Johan, I would like to thank you for being a great co-supervisor. I have always been inspired by your genuine and vast knowledge and intelligence. Moreover, I highly appreciate your endless support beyond educational and scientific matters.

Andreas, thanks so much for your fantastic scientific support, supervision, and feedbacks as my co-supervisor. **Hiro**, thanks so much for your incredible scientific support as my co-supervisor. **Michael Fored**, thanks for all your kind help and support.

Mingmei and David, thank you so much for all your scientific supports and, more importantly, thank you for your sincere friendship. Special thanks to **Narsis** whom she is not only a scientific senior with lots of great inputs and discussion but also a caring friend that kindly excepted to be my dissertation chairperson.

Pernilla and Peri, you have been an incredible colleague, so kind and passionate. Thank you for instructing me about team routines and lab techniques. **Gowhar**, **Ananta**, **Roland**, **Hector**, **and Gilad**, thanks for all your help and support. I wish you all the best in your scientific life.

I am very honored to be involved in a collaborative project with **Rolf Kiessling's team**. **Yago**, I feel so lucky working with you, and thanks for all your scientific help and support.

Jeroen, thank you so much for all discussion we had, and I wish you all the best in scientific life.

I want to thank **Damian Mole** for the opportunity to carry out part of my research in his group. His help and support have been phenomenal. I would also like to show my gratitude to everybody else who has helped me during the period I was in Dr. Mole's lab. To **Xia**, for his tremendous support. To **Alistair**, who has been a brilliant source of wisdom, support, and ideas throughout that period. My gratitude must also go to the Karolinska Institute for their financial award that facilitated a large part of my PhD study, which conducted at the University of Edinburgh, UK.

I want to thank **Xabier**; I highly appreciate your contribution to scRNA-seq data analysis; your suggestions and assistance have touched my heart. **Manjula**, you helped me in understanding our data better. I wish you all the best in scientific life.

I want to thank **Suzanne**, **veronica**, **Rainer**, **Muyi**, **Daneil Ketelhuth** and **Roland Baumgartner** for their tremendous supports during my studies with special thanks to **Hanna** for invaluable scientific input and for being generous to offer help whenever needed. I am very grateful to the proteomic analyses team, **Janne** and **Maria** for their all support and scientific input.

I am also willing to thank other colleagues that I have always enjoyed working with, and I would like to thanks them: first of all, I would like to thank CMM service center (Annika, Kjell, Olle, Daniel, Christer, Timmy, and Hugo) for their help all the time. Yvonne, Pernilla, Mathilda, Sunjay, Rubin, Szabolcs, Angelika, Raffaella, and Francesco, Hector, you are all dear colleague of mine, thanks for lunch discussions and friendship, I wish you all the best in scientific life. I am also willing to express my thankfulness to my friends outside the lab: Manijeh, my fantastic friend indeed, Sepideh, a genuine friend. Mona, Mahgol, Maral, Sadreddin and Tabasom, Yasi, Nona, Tobias, Ali and Sahar, Mitra and Ebrahim, Sadreddin, and Tabasom, Ehsan and Negar, Behrooz and Sahar, Pedram and Parham, Kaveh, Emma, and Amirata.

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to my lovely family.

Ali, I feel much honored to have you by my side. I do appreciate your passion for science, your immense optimism about the future, and your decisiveness. I am very grateful for you being always caring and also great mate in tough and fun moments of life.

Sheli and Mohammad, I luckily have you. Thank you for being such lovely siblings and a true friend to me and thanks for all your kindness and supports. And as well to my youngest sibling, **Meysam**, whose heroic and endless support to the family brought me peace of mind in these tough moments. Not only is he a kind and caring brother, but also, he is an honorable man whom you can always reach out for help.

My beloved Dad and Mom, I feel I am the luckiest daughter ever to have such lovely parents. Without their unwavering support, none of this would have been possible. They have been real rocks throughout my entire education.

8 **REFERENCES**

- 1. Matzinger P. The danger model: A renewed sense of self. Science (80-). 2002;296(5566):301–5.
- 2. Lodoen MB, Lanier LL. Viral modulation of NK cell immunity. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2005;3(1):59–69.
- Apc KLHKLH. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. 1986;3–6.
- Hamza T, Barnett JB, Li B. Interleukin 12 a key immunoregulatory cytokine in infection applications. Int J Mol Sci. 2010;11(3):789–806.
- Germain RN. t-cell development and the CD4-CD8 lineage decision. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2(5):309–22.
- Cyster JG, Allen CDC. B Cell Responses: Cell Interaction Dynamics and Decisions. Cell [Internet]. 2019;177(3):524–40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.016
- Adams JL, Smothers J, Srinivasan R, Hoos A. Big opportunities for small molecules in immunooncology. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(9):603–21.
- Murphy K., Travers P. WM. Janeway's Immunobiology. 7th ed. New York, NY, USA: Garland Science Taylor and Francis Group; 2008. 1–38 p.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: Integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science (80-). 2011;331(6024):1565–70.
- 10. Hoos A, Britten CM. The immuno-oncology framework enabling a new era of cancer therapy a new era of cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(3):334–9.
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakihama T, Itoh M, et al. Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: Their common role in controlling autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. Immunol Rev. 2001;182(7):18–32.
- 12. Yamaguchi T and SS. Regulatory T cells in immune surveillance and treatment of cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2006;16(2):115–23.
- Vignali DAA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(7):523–32.
- Sakaguchi S. N aturally A rising CD4 + R egulatory T C ells for I mmunologic S elf -T olerance and N egative C ontrol of I mmune R esponses . Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22(1):531–62.
- Piccirillo CA, Letterio JJ, Thornton AM, McHugh RS, Mamura M, Mizuhara H, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells can mediate suppressor function in the absence of transforming growth factor β1 production and responsiveness. J Exp Med. 2002;196(2):237–45.
- M.L. A, K.A. F, C.B. T. T-cell regulation by CD28 and CTLA-4. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. 2001;1(3):220–8. Available from:
 - http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L35640872
- 17. Walker LSK, Sansom DM. The emerging role of CTLA4 as a cell-extrinsic regulator of T cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(12):852–63.
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. Programmed Death-1 Ligand 1 Interacts Specifically with the B7-1 Costimulatory Molecule to Inhibit T Cell Responses. Immunity. 2007;27(1):111–22.
- Qureshi OS, Zheng Y, Nakamura K, Attridge K, Manzotti C, Schmidt EM, et al. Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: A molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. Science (80-). 2011;332(6029):600–3.
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: A potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8(8):793–800.
- Freeman BGJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192(7):1028–34.
- Tseng SY, Otsuji M, Gorski K, Huang X, Slansky JE, Pai SI, et al. B7-DC, a new dendritic cell molecule with potent costimulatory properties for T cells. J Exp Med. 2001;193(7):839–45.
- 23. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(3):261–8.
- 24. Picarda E, Ohaegbulam KC, Zang X. Molecular Pathways: Targeting B7-H3 (CD276) for Human Cancer Immunotherapy. Br Med J. 1970;3(5718):298–9.
- Liu X, Xin Gao J, Wen J, Yin L, Li O, Zuo T, et al. B7DC/PDL2 promotes tumor immunity by a PD-1-independent mechanism. J Exp Med. 2003;197(12):1721–30.
- Driessens G, Kline J, Gajewski TF. Costimulatory and coinhibitory receptors in anti-tumor immunity. Immunol Rev. 2009;229(1):126–44.
- Chen L. Co-inhibitory molecules of the B7-CD28 family in the control of T-cell immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(5):336–47.
- Mellor AL, Munn DH. IDO expression by dendritic cells: Tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(10):762–74.

- Terness, P., J.J. Chuang and GO. The immunoregulatory role of IDO-producing human dendritic cells revisited. Trends Immunol. 2006;27(2):68-73.
- Prendergast GC. Immune escape as a fundamental trait of cancer: focus on IDO. Oncogene. 2008;27(28):3889–900.
- Littlejohn TK. A two-step induction of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) activity during dendriticcell maturation. 2001;106(7):2375–82.
- Marshall B, Keskin DB, Mellor AL. Regulation of prostaglandin synthesis and cell adhesion by a tryptophan catabolizing enzyme. BMC Biochem. 2001;2:1–15.
- Belladonna ML, Volpi C, Bianchi R, Vacca C, Orabona C, Pallotta MT, et al. Cutting Edge: Autocrine TGF-β Sustains Default Tolerogenesis by IDO-Competent Dendritic Cells. J Immunol. 2008;181(8):5194–8.
- Mantovani, A. et al. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol. 2002;549–55.
- 35. Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Eggermont A, Sautès-Fridman C, Tartour E, Kennedy EP, et al. Trial watch: IDO inhibitors in cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3(10):e957994-1-e957994-10.
- Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science. 1996;271(5256):1734–6.
- Walunas, T.L. et al. CTLA-4 can function as a negative regulator of T cell activation. Immunity. Immunity. 1994;1(5): p. 405-13.
- Hurwitz AA, Ji Q. Combination Immunotherapy of B16 Melanoma Using Anti–Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte–associated Antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF)-producing Vaccines Induces Rejection of Subcutaneous and Metastatic Tumors Accompanied . Methods Mol Med. 2004;102(3):421–7.
- Hurwitz AA, Foster BA, Kwon ED, Truong T, Choi EM, Greenberg NM, et al. Combination immunotherapy of primary prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse model using CTLA-4 blockade. Cancer Res. 2000;60(9):2444–8.
- Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, Robert C, Ph D, Schadendorf D, et al. new england journal. 2010;711–23.
- 41. Wolchok, J.D. et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, dose-ranging study. Oncogene. 2010;155–64.
- 42. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(14):8372–7.
- Topalian SL, Sznol M, McDermott DF, Kluger HM, Carvajal RD, Sharfman WH, et al. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(10):1020–30.
- 44. Hamid O, Robert C, Daud A, Hodi FS, Hwu WJ, Kefford R, et al. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):134–44.
- 45. Robert C, Long G V., Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(4):320–30.
- Weber JS, Kudchadkar RR, Yu B, Gallenstein D, Horak CE, Inzunza HD, et al. Safety, efficacy, and biomarkers of nivolumab with vaccine in ipilimumab-refractory or -naive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(34):4311–8.
- Robert C, Ribas A, Wolchok JD, Hodi FS, Hamid O, Kefford R, et al. Anti-programmed-deathreceptor-1 treatment with pembrolizumab in ipilimumab-refractory advanced melanoma: A randomised dose-comparison cohort of a phase 1 trial. Lancet. 2014;384(9948):1109–17.
- Okazaki T, Chikuma S, Iwai Y, Fagarasan S, Honjo T. A rheostat for immune responses: The unique properties of PD-1 and their advantages for clinical application. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(12):1212–8.
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity. 1999;11(2):141–51.
- 50. Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nakatani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. Science (80-). 2001;291(5502):319–22.
- 51. Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. Immunity. 1995;3(5):541–7.
- Waterhouse P, Penninger JM, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee KP, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science (80-). 1995;270(5238):985–8.
- Vijayakrishnan L, Slavik JM, Illés Z, Rainbow D, Peterson LB, Sharpe AS, et al. An autoimmune disease-associated CTLA4 splice variant lacking the B7 binding domain signals negatively in T cells. Novartis Found Symp. 2005;267:200–12.
- 54. Intlekofer AM, Thompson CB. At the bench: preclinical rationale for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade as

cancer immunotherapy. J Leukoc Biol [Internet]. 2013;94(1):25–39. Available from: http://www.jleukbio.org/content/94/1/25.long

- Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, et al. Phase I study of single-agent anti-programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: Safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(19):3167–75.
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQM, Hwu WJ, Topalian SL, Hwu P, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2455–65.
- Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature [Internet]. 2014;515(7528):558–62. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature13904
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature [Internet]. 2014;515(7528):563–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature14011
- Ha TT, Gajewski TF. Up-Regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and Tregs in the Melanoma Tumor Microenvironment Is Driven by CD8+ T Cells. 2014;5(200):1–21.
- 60. Loke P, Allison JP. PD-L1 and PD-L2 are differentially regulated by Th1 and Th2 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(9):5336–41.
- Chen J, Feng Y, Lu L, Wang H, Dai L, Li Y, et al. Interferon-γ-induced PD-L1 surface expression on human oral squamous carcinoma via PKD2 signal pathway. Immunobiology [Internet]. 2012:217(4):385–93. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.imbio.2011.10.016
- 62. Wimberly H, Brown JR, Schalper K, Haack H, Silver MR, Nixon C, et al. PD-L1 expression correlates with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(4):326–32.
- Kinter AL, Godbout EJ, McNally JP, Sereti I, Roby GA, O'Shea MA, et al. The Common γ-Chain Cytokines IL-2, IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21 Induce the Expression of Programmed Death-1 and Its Ligands. J Immunol. 2008;181(10):6738–46.
- 64. Lesterhuis WJ, Punt CJ a, Hato S V, Eleveld-trancikova D, Jansen BJH, Nierkens S, et al. Platinumbased drugs disrupt STAT6-mediated suppression of immune responses against cancer in humans and mice. 2011;121(8).
- Parekh V V., Lalani S, Kim S, Halder R, Azuma M, Yagita H, et al. PD-1/PD-L Blockade Prevents Anergy Induction and Enhances the Anti-Tumor Activities of Glycolipid-Activated Invariant NKT Cells. J Immunol. 2009;182(5):2816–26.
- 66. He Y-F, Zhang G-M, Wang X-H, Zhang H, Yuan Y, Li D, et al. Blocking Programmed Death-1 Ligand-PD-1 Interactions by Local Gene Therapy Results in Enhancement of Antitumor Effect of Secondary Lymphoid Tissue Chemokine. J Immunol. 2004;173(8):4919–28.
- Kondo T, Oka T, Sato H, Shinnou Y, Washio K. Blockade of B7-H1 or B7-DC induces an anti-tumor effect in a mouse pancreatic cancer model. Int J Oncol. 2009;35:547–57.
- Shin T, Yoshimura K, Shin T, Crafton EB, Tsuchiya H, Housseau F, et al. In vivo costimulatory role of B7-DC in tuning T helper cell 1 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med. 2005;201(10):1531–41.
- 69. Sandvik L, Erikssen J, Thaulow E, Erikssen G. Use of Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Interleukin-2 in the Immunotherapy of Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. Phys Fit as a Predict Mortal Men. 1993;328(8):2010–3.
- Rosenberg SA, Yannelli JR, Yang JC, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Weber JS, et al. Treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma with autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin 2. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994;86(15):1159–66.
- Yee C, Thompson JA, Byrd D, Riddell SR, Roche P, Celis E, et al. Adoptive T cell therapy using antigen-specific CD8+ T cell clones for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: In vivo persistence, migration, and antitumor effect of transferred T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(25):16168–73.
- Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Restifo NP, et al. Adoptive cell transfer therapy following non-myeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(10):2346–57.
- 73. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Yang JC, Hwu P, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity in patients after clonal repopulation with antitumor lymphocytes. Science (80-). 2002;298(5594):850–4.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550–7.
- 75. Retèl VP, Steuten LMG, Geukes Foppen MH, Mewes JC, Lindenberg MA, Haanen JBAG, et al. Early cost-effectiveness of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) for second line treatment in advanced melanoma: A model-based economic evaluation 14 Economics 1402 Applied Economics. BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1):1–11.

- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Hughes MS, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science (80-). 2006;314(5796):126– 9.
- Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Robbins PF, Khong HT, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Primary Human Lymphocytes Transduced with NY-ESO-1 Antigen-Specific TCR Genes Recognize and Kill Diverse Human Tumor Cell Lines. J Immunol. 2005;174(7):4415–23.
- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Yu YYL, Zheng Z, Robbins PF, Theoret MR, et al. High Efficiency TCR Gene Transfer into Primary Human Lymphocytes Affords Avid Recognition of Melanoma Tumor Antigen Glycoprotein 100 and Does Not Alter the Recognition of Autologous Melanoma Antigens. J Immunol. 2003;171(6):3287–95.
- Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, et al. Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. Blood. 2009;114(3):535–46.
- Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Parker LL, Wang G, Eshhar Z, Mavroukakis SA, et al. A phase I study on adoptive immunotherapy using gene-modified T cells for ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(20 PART 1):6106–15.
- 81. Urba WJ, Longo DL. Redirecting T cells. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(8):754-7.
- Starr DA. The promise and potential pitfalls of chimeric antigen receptors. Physiol Behav. 2011;176(1):139–48.
- Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(8):725–33.
- Kochenderfer JN, Rosenberg SA. Treating B-cell cancer with T cells expressing anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2013;10(5):267–76.
- Kebriaei P, Huls H, Jena B, Munsell M, Jackson R, Lee DA, et al. Infusing CD19-directed T cells to augment disease control in patients undergoing autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for advanced B-lymphoid malignancies. Hum Gene Ther. 2012;23(5):444–50.
- 86. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Wilson WH, Spaner DE, Maric I, et al. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokine-associated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptor-transduced T cells. Blood [Internet]. 2012;119(12):2709–21. Available from: http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/119/12/2709.long?ssochecked=true%0Ahttp://www.bloodjournal.org/content/119/12/2709.full.print?
- 87. Fournier C, Martin F, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L. Trial Watch: Adoptively transferred cells for anticancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology [Internet]. 2017;6(11):1–17. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2017.1363139
- Chang AE, Karnell LH, Menck HR. The national cancer data base report on cutaneous and noncutaneous melanoma: A summary of 84,836 cases from the past decade. Cancer. 1998;83(8):1664–78.
- Eggermont AMM, Spatz A, Robert C. Cutaneous melanoma. Lancet [Internet]. 2014;383(9919):816– 27. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60802-8
- 90. Institute NC. SEER cancer stat facts: melanoma of the skin.
- Hartman RI, Lin JY. Cutaneous Melanoma—A Review in Detection, Staging, and Management. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am [Internet]. 2019;33(1):25–38. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hoc.2018.09.005
- 92. WINTER AJ, SIMON J, McNUTT SH, CASIDA LE. Meaningful relationships: the regulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway by protein interactions. Am J Vet Res. 1960;21:664–7.
- Cust AE, Harland M, Makalic E, Schmidt D, Dowty JG, Aitken JF, et al. Melanoma risk for CDKN2A mutation carriers who are relatives of population-based case carriers in Australia and the UK. J Med Genet. 2011;48(4):266–72.
- 94. By Nicholas D. Panayi, Erin E. Mendoza ESB and RB. Aberrant Death Pathways in Melanoma. 2013.
- Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Bacchiocchi A, Evans P, Pornputtapong N, Wu C, et al. Exome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in NF1 and RASopathy genes in sun-exposed melanomas. Nat Genet. 2015;47(9):996–1002.
- Abstract G, Brief I, Akbani R, Akdemir KC, Aksoy BA, Albert M, et al. Genomic Classification of Cutaneous Melanoma. Cell [Internet]. 2015;161(7):1681–96. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0092867415006340
- Smalley KSM. A pivotal role for ERK in the oncogenic behaviour of malignant melanoma? Int J Cancer. 2003;104(5):527–32.
- Cohen C, Zavala-Pompa A, Sequeira JH, Shoji M, Sexton DG, Cotsonis G, et al. Mitogen-actived protein kinase activation is an early event in melanoma progression. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(12):3728–33.
- Fecher LA, Amaravadi RK, Flaherty KT. The MAPK pathway in melanoma. Curr Opin Oncol. 2008;20(2):183–9.
- 100. Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, et al. Mutations of the BRAF gene in

human cancer. Nature. 2002;417(6892):949-54.

- 101. Mandalà M, Merelli B, Massi D. Nras in melanoma: Targeting the undruggable target. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol [Internet]. 2014;92(2):107–22. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.05.005
- van 't Veer LJ, Burgering BM, Versteeg R, Boot AJ, Ruiter DJ, Osanto S, et al. N-ras mutations in human cutaneous melanoma from sun-exposed body sites. Mol Cell Biol. 1989;9(7):3114–6.
- Omholt K, Karsberg S, Platz A, Kanter L, Ringborg U, Hansson J. Screening of N-ras codon 61 mutations in paired primary and metastatic cutaneous melanomas: Mutations occur early and persist throughout tumor progression. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(11):3468–74.
- Omholt K, Platz A, Kanter L, Ringborg U, Hansson J. NRAS and BRAF Mutations Arise Early during Melanoma Pathogenesis and Are Preserved throughout Tumor Progression. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(17):6483–8.
- Sensi M, Nicolini G, Petti C, Bersani I, Lozupone F, Molla A, et al. Mutually exclusive NRASQ61R and BRAFV600E mutations at the single-cell level in the same human melanoma. Oncogene. 2006;25(24):3357–64.
- Kwong LN, Costello JC, Liu H, Jiang S, Helms TL, Langsdorf AE, et al. Oncogenic NRAS signaling differentially regulates survival and proliferation in melanoma. Nat Med. 2012;18(10):1503–10.
- 107. Conde-Perez A, Larue L. PTEN and melanomagenesis. Futur Oncol. 2012;8(9):1109–20.
- 108. Simpson L, Parsons R. PTEN: Life as a tumor suppressor. Exp Cell Res. 2001;264(1):29-41.
- Bucheit AD, Chen G, Siroy A, Tetzlaff M, Broaddus R, Milton D, et al. Complete loss of PTEN protein expression correlates with shorter time to brain metastasis and survival in stage IIIB/C melanoma patients with BRAFV600 mutations. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(21):5527–36.
- 110. Helgadottir H, Hoiom V, Tuominen R, Nielsen K, Jonsson G, Olsson H, et al. Germline CDKN2A mutation status and survival in familial melanoma cases. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108(11):1–8.
- Easty DJ, Gray SG, O'Byrne KJ, O'Donnell D, Bennett DC. Receptor tyrosine kinases and their activation in melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 2011;24(3):446–61.
- 112. Poser I, Bosserhoff AK. Transcription factors involved in development and progression of malignant melanoma. Histol Histopathol. 2004;19(1):173–88.
- 113. Johansson CH, Azimi A, Stolt MF, Shojaee S, Wiberg H, Grafström E, et al. Association of MITF and other melanosome-related proteins with chemoresistance in melanoma tumors and cell lines. Melanoma Res. 2013;23(5):360–5.
- Jackson SP, Bartek J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. Nature. 2009;461(7267):1071–8.
- Hsueh EC, Famatiga E, Gupta RK, Qi K, Morton DL. Enhancement of complement-dependent cytotoxicity by polyvalent melanoma cell vaccine (CancerVax): Correlation with survival. Ann Surg Oncol. 1998;5(7):595–602.
- Bhatia S, Tykodi SS, Thompson J a. Treatment of metastatic melanoma: an overview. Oncology (Williston Park). 2009;23(6):488–96.
- Garbe C, Eigentler TK, Keilholz U, Hauschild A, Kirkwood JM. Systematic Review of Medical Treatment in Melanoma: Current Status and Future Prospects. Oncologist. 2011;16(1):5–24.
- 118. McArthur GA, Chapman PB, Robert C, Larkin J, Haanen JB, Dummer R, et al. Safety and efficacy of vemurafenib in BRAFV600E and BRAFV600K mutation-positive melanoma (BRIM-3): Extended follow-up of a phase 3, randomised, open-label study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(3):323–32.
- 119. Hauschild A, Grob JJ, Demidov L V., Jouary T, Gutzmer R, Millward M, et al. Dabrafenib in BRAFmutated metastatic melanoma: A multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet [Internet]. 2012;380(9839):358–65. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60868-X
- Long G V., Stroyakovskiy D, Gogas H, Levchenko E, De Braud F, Larkin J, et al. Dabrafenib and trametinib versus dabrafenib and placebo for Val600 BRAF-mutant melanoma: A multicentre, double-blind, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015;386(9992):444–51.
- Helmbach H, Rossmann E, Kern MA, Schadendorf D. Drug-resistance in human melanoma. Int J Cancer. 2001;93(5):617–22.
- Trédan O, Galmarini CM, Patel K, Tannock IF. Drug resistance and the solid tumor microenvironment. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007;99(19):1441–54.
- 123. Bresnick AR, Weber DJ, Zimmer DB. S100 proteins in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2015;15(2):96-109.
- 124. Egevad VTHH. High density of S100A9 positive inflammatory cells in prostate cancer stroma is associated with poor outcome. Eur J Cancer. 2014;
- 125. Zhao F, Hoechst B, Duffy A, Gamrekelashvili J, Fioravanti S, Manns MP, et al. S100A9 a new marker for monocytic human myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Immunology. 2012;136(2):176–83.
- Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, Yu B, Nagaraj S, Bui MM, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. J Exp Med. 2008;205(10):2235–49.
- 127. Ghavami S, Rashedi I, Dattilo BM, Eshraghi M, Chazin WJ, Hashemi M, et al. S100A8/A9 at low

concentration promotes tumor cell growth via RAGE ligation and MAP kinase-dependent pathway. J Leukoc Biol. 2008;83(6):1484–92.

- Sinha P, Okoro C, Foell D, Freeze HH, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Srikrishna G. Proinflammatory S100 Proteins Regulate the Accumulation of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. J Immunol. 2008;181(7):4666–75.
- 129. Li H, Bullock K, Gurjao C, Braun D, Shukla SA, Bossé D, et al. Metabolomic adaptations and correlates of survival to immune checkpoint blockade. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2019;10(1):3–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12361-9
- 130. Stryer L. Biochemistry. In 1995. p. 390.
- 131. Nelson DL. Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry. In 2008. p. 569-82.
- 132. Stryer L. Biochemistry. In 1995. p. 373-4.
- 133. Vander Heiden MG, Deberardinis RJ. Understanding the intersections between metabolism and cancer biology CELL-AUTONOMOUS REPROGRAMMING OF CANCER METABOLISM HHS Public Access. Cell [Internet]. 2017;168(4):657–69. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5329766/pdf/nihms848132.pdf
- Pagès F, Mlecnik B, Marliot F, Bindea G, Ou FS, Bifulco C, et al. International validation of the consensus Immunoscore for the classification of colon cancer: a prognostic and accuracy study. Lancet. 2018;391(10135):2128–39.
- Pavlova NN, Thompson CB. The Emerging Hallmarks of Cancer Metabolism. Cell Metab [Internet]. 2016;23(1):27–47. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006
- O'Neill LAJ, Pearce EJ. Immunometabolism governs dendritic cell and macrophage function. J Exp Med. 2016;213(1):15–23.
- Buck MD, Sowell RT, Kaech SM, Pearce EL. Metabolic Instruction of Immunity. Cell [Internet]. 2017;169(4):570–86. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.004
- Assmann N, O'Brien KL, Donnelly RP, Dyck L, Zaiatz-Bittencourt V, Loftus RM, et al. Srebpcontrolled glucose metabolism is essential for NK cell functional responses. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(11):1197–206.
- 139. Badur MG, Metallo CM. Reverse engineering the cancer metabolic network using flux analysis to understand drivers of human disease. Metab Eng [Internet]. 2018;45(October 2017):95–108. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2017.11.013
- 140. Reznik E, Luna A, Aksoy BA, Liu EM, La K, Ostrovnaya I, et al. A Landscape of Metabolic Variation across Tumor Types. Cell Syst. 2018;6(3):301-313.e3.
- 141. Hensley CT, Faubert B, Yuan Q, Lev-Cohain N, Jin E, Kim J, et al. Metabolic Heterogeneity in Human Lung Tumors. Cell [Internet]. 2016;164(4):681–94. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.034
- Porporato PE, Filigheddu N, Pedro JMBS, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Mitochondrial metabolism and cancer. Cell Res [Internet]. 2018;28(3):265–80. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/cr.2017.155
- 143. Lebleu VS, O'Connell JT, Gonzalez Herrera KN, Wikman H, Pantel K, Haigis MC, et al. PGC-1α mediates mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells to promote metastasis. Nat Cell Biol. 2014;16(10):992–1003.
- 144. Yang C, Ko B, Hensley CT, Jiang L, Wasti AT, Kim J, et al. Glutamine oxidation maintains the TCA cycle and cell survival during impaired mitochondrial pyruvate transport. Mol Cell [Internet]. 2014;56(3):414–24. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.09.025
- 145. Pavlova NN, Hui S, Ghergurovich JM, Fan J, Intlekofer AM, White RM, et al. As Extracellular Glutamine Levels Decline, Asparagine Becomes an Essential Amino Acid. Cell Metab [Internet]. 2018;27(2):428-438.e5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.12.006
- Kuo CY, Ann DK. When fats commit crimes: Fatty acid metabolism, cancer stemness and therapeutic resistance. Cancer Commun. 2018;38(1):1–12.
- 147. Qu Q, Zeng F, Liu X, Wang QJ, Deng F. Fatty acid oxidation and carnitine palmitoyltransferase I: Emerging therapeutic targets in cancer. Cell Death Dis. 2016;7(5):1–9.
- Spinelli JB, Yoon H, Ringel AE, Jeanfavre S, Clish CB, Haigis MC. Metabolic recycling of ammonia via glutamate dehydrogenase supports breast cancer biomass. Science (80-). 2017;358(6365):941–6.
- 149. Corbet C, Bastien E, Draoui N, Doix B, Mignion L, Jordan BF, et al. Interruption of lactate uptake by inhibiting mitochondrial pyruvate transport unravels direct antitumor and radiosensitizing effects. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2018;9(1):1–11. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03525-0
- Faubert B, Li KY, Cai L, Hensley CT, Kim J, Zacharias LG, et al. Lactate Metabolism in Human Lung Tumors. Cell [Internet]. 2017;171(2):358-371.e9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.019
- 151. Gatto F, Nookaew I, Nielsen J. Chromosome 3p loss of heterozygosity is associated with a unique metabolic network in clear cell renal carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(9).
- Hu J, Locasale JW, Bielas JH, O'Sullivan J, Sheahan K, Cantley LC, et al. Heterogeneity of tumorinduced gene expression changes in the human metabolic network. Nat Biotechnol. 2013;31(6):522– 9.

- 153. Nilsson R, Jain M, Madhusudhan N, Sheppard NG, Strittmatter L, Kampf C, et al. Metabolic enzyme expression highlights a key role for MTHFD2 and the mitochondrial folate pathway in cancer. Nat Commun. 2014;5.
- 154. O'Sullivan D, Sanin DE, Pearce EJ, Pearce EL. Metabolic interventions in the immune response to cancer. Nat Rev Immunol [Internet]. 2019;19(5):324–35. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0140-9
- Gentles AJ, Newman AM, Liu CL, Bratman S V., Feng W, Kim D, et al. The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):938–45.
- 156. Thorsson V, Gibbs DL, Brown SD, Wolf D, Bortone DS, Ou Yang TH, et al. The Immune Landscape of Cancer. Immunity. 2018;48(4):812-830.e14.
- 157. Malinarich F, Duan K, Hamid RA, Bijin A, Lin WX, Poidinger M, et al. High Mitochondrial Respiration and Glycolytic Capacity Represent a Metabolic Phenotype of Human Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells. J Immunol. 2015;194(11):5174–86.
- Cantelmo AR, Conradi LC, Brajic A, Goveia J, Kalucka J, Pircher A, et al. Inhibition of the Glycolytic Activator PFKFB3 in Endothelium Induces Tumor Vessel Normalization, Impairs Metastasis, and Improves Chemotherapy. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(6):968–85.
- 159. Liu X, Mo W, Ye J, Li L, Zhang Y, Hsueh EC, et al. Regulatory T cells trigger effector T cell DNA damage and senescence caused by metabolic competition. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2018;9(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02689-5
- 160. Klysz D, Tai X, Robert PA, Craveiro M, Cretenet G, Oburoglu L, et al. Glutamine-dependent αketoglutarate production regulates the balance between T helper 1 cell and regulatory T cell generation. Sci Signal. 2015;8(396).
- Araujo L, Khim P, Mkhikian H, Mortales CL, Demetriou M. Glycolysis and glutaminolysis cooperatively control T cell function by limiting metabolite supply to N-glycosylation. Elife. 2017;6:1–16.
- 162. Ma EH, Bantug G, Griss T, Condotta S, Johnson RM, Samborska B, et al. Serine Is an Essential Metabolite for Effector T Cell Expansion. Cell Metab [Internet]. 2017;25(2):482. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.01.014
- 163. Ron-Harel N, Santos D, Ghergurovich JM, Sage PT, Reddy A, Lovitch SB, et al. Mitochondrial Biogenesis and Proteome Remodeling Promote One-Carbon Metabolism for T Cell Activation. Cell Metab [Internet]. 2016;24(1):104–17. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.06.007
- Swamy M, Pathak S, Grzes KM, Damerow S, Sinclair L V., Van Aalten DMF, et al. Glucose and glutamine fuel protein O-GlcNAcylation to control T cell self-renewal and malignancy. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(6):712–20.
- 165. Loftus RM, Assmann N, Kedia-Mehta N, O'Brien KL, Garcia A, Gillespie C, et al. Amino aciddependent cMyc expression is essential for NK cell metabolic and functional responses in mice. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2018;9(1):152–60. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04719-2
- Munn DH, Mellor AL. Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase and metabolic control of immune responses. Trends Immunol [Internet]. 2013;34(3):137–43. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2012.10.001
- 167. Mondanelli G, Bianchi R, Pallotta MT, Orabona C, Albini E, Iacono A, et al. A Relay Pathway between Arginine and Tryptophan Metabolism Confers Immunosuppressive Properties on Dendritic Cells. Immunity [Internet]. 2017;46(2):233–44. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.01.005
- Chen Y, Guillemin GJ. Kynurenine pathway metabolites in humans: Disease and healthy states. Int J Tryptophan Res. 2009;2(1):1–19.
- 169. Long G V., Dummer R, Hamid O, Gajewski TF, Caglevic C, Dalle S, et al. Epacadostat plus pembrolizumab versus placebo plus pembrolizumab in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma (ECHO-301/KEYNOTE-252): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind study. Lancet Oncol [Internet]. 2019;20(8):1083–97. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30274-8
- Sarrouilhe D, Mesnil M. Serotonin and human cancer: A critical view. Biochimie [Internet]. 2019;161:46–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2018.06.016
- 171. Wu H, Denna TH, Storkersen JN, Gerriets VA. Beyond a neurotransmitter: The role of serotonin in inflammation and immunity. Pharmacol Res. 2019;140(February 2018):100–14.
- Chuang SC, Fanidi A, Ueland PM, Relton C, Midttun O, Vollset SE, et al. Circulating biomarkers of tryptophan and the kynurenine pathway and lung cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2014;23(3):461–8.
- 173. de Jong WHA, Smit R, Bakker SJL, de Vries EGE, Kema IP. Plasma tryptophan, kynurenine and 3hydroxykynurenine measurement using automated on-line solid-phase extraction HPLC-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr B Anal Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2009;877(7):603–9.
- 174. Stone TW, Darlington LG. Endogenous kynurenines as targets for drug discovery and development. 2002;1(August).

- Keszthelyi D, Troost FJ, Masclee AAM. Understanding the role of tryptophan and serotonin metabolism in gastrointestinal function. 2009;1239–49.
- Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Théate I, Stroobant V, Colau D, Parmentier N, et al. Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Nat Med. 2003;9(10):1269–74.
- 177. Badawy AAB. Kynurenine pathway of tryptophan metabolism: Regulatory and functional aspects. Int J Tryptophan Res. 2017;10(1).
- Mándi Y, Vécsei L. The kynurenine system and immunoregulation. J Neural Transm. 2012;119(2):197–209.
- Vécsei L, Szalárdy L, Fülöp F, Toldi J. Kynurenines in the CNS: Recent advances and new questions. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2013;12(1):64–82.
- NISHIZUKA Y, HAYAISHI O. Studies on the Biosynthesis of Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide. J Biol Chem. 1963;238(10):3369–77.
- 181. Bender DA. Inhibition in vitro of the enzymes of the oxidative pathway of tryptophan metabolism and of nicotinamide nucleotide synthesis by benserazide, carbidopa and isoniazid. Biochem Pharmacol. 1980;29(5):707–12.
- 182. Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu H-Q. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. Nat Rev Neurosci [Internet]. 2012;13(7):465–77. Available from: http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nrn3257%5Cnpapers3://publication/doi/10.1038/nrn3257
- 183. Wu HQ, Okuyama M, Kajii Y, Pocivavsek A, Bruno JP, Schwarcz R. Targeting kynurenine aminotransferase II in psychiatric diseases: Promising effects of an orally active enzyme inhibitor. Schizophr Bull. 2014;40(SUPPL. 2).
- 184. Jayawickrama G, Sadig R, Sun G, Nematollahi A, Nadvi N, Hanrahan J, et al. Kynurenine Aminotransferases and the Prospects of Inhibitors for the Treatment of Schizophrenia. Curr Med Chem. 2015;22(24):2902–18.
- Stone TW, Darlington LG. The kynurenine pathway as a therapeutic target in cognitive and neurodegenerative disorders. Br J Pharmacol. 2013;169(6):1211–27.
- Badawy AAB. Tryptophan: The key to boosting brain serotonin synthesis in depressive Illness. J Psychopharmacol. 2013;27(10):878–93.
- 187. Platten M, Wick W, Van Den Eynde BJ. Tryptophan catabolism in cancer: Beyond IDO and tryptophan depletion. Cancer Res. 2012;72(21):5435–40.
- 188. Platten M, von Knebel Doeberitz N, Oezen I, Wick W, Ochs K. Cancer Immunotherapy by Targeting IDO1/TDO and Their Downstream Effectors. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2015;5(January):1–7. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00673/abstract
- 189. DiNatale BC, Murray IA, Schroeder JC, Flaveny CA, Lahoti TS, Laurenzana EM, et al. Kynurenic acid is a potent endogenous aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand that synergistically induces interleukin-6 in the presence of inflammatory signaling. Toxicol Sci. 2010;115(1):89–97.
- Stachowski EK, Schwarcz R. Regulation of quinolinic acid neosynthesis in mouse, rat and human brain by iron and iron chelators in vitro. J Neural Transm. 2012;119(2):123–31.
- Malherbe P, Kohler C, Da Prada M, Lang G, Kiefer V, Schwarcz R, et al. Molecular cloning and functional expression of human 3- hydroxyanthranilic-acid dioxygenase. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(19):13792–7.
- 192. Giorgini F, Huang SY, Sathyasaikumar K V., Notarangelo FM, Thomas MAR, Tararina M, et al. Targeted deletion of kynurenine 3-Monooxygenase in mice a new tool for studying kynurenine pathway metabolism in periphery and brain. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(51):36554–66.
- 193. Shahul S, Tung A, Minhaj M, Nizamuddin J, Wenger J, Mahmood E, Mueller A, Shaefi S, Scavone B, Kociol R D, Talmor D, Rana S 2017. A systemically-available kynurenine aminotransferase II (KAT II) inhibitor restores nicotine-evoked glutamatergic activity in the cortex of rats. Neuropharmacology. Physiol Behav [Internet]. 2017;176(10):139–48. Available from: file:///C:/Users/Carla Carolina/Desktop/Artigos para acrescentar na qualificação/The impact of birth weight on cardiovascular disease risk in the.pdf
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science (80-). 2018;359(6382):1350–5.
- 195. Chang CH, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, et al. Metabolic Competition in the Tumor Microenvironment Is a Driver of Cancer Progression. Cell [Internet]. 2015;162(6):1229–41. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016
- Prestipino A, Emhardt AJ, Aumann K, O'Sullivan D, Gorantla SP, Duquesne S, et al. Oncogenic JAK2 V617F causes PD-L1 expression, mediating immune escape in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Sci Transl Med. 2018;10(429):1–13.
- 197. Zhang Y, Kurupati R, Liu L, Zhou XY, Zhang G, Hudaihed A, et al. Enhancing CD8+ T Cell Fatty Acid Catabolism within a Metabolically Challenging Tumor Microenvironment Increases the Efficacy of Melanoma Immunotherapy. Cancer Cell [Internet]. 2017;32(3):377-391.e9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2017.08.004

- Patsoukis N, Bardhan K, Chatterjee P, Sari D, Liu B, Bell LN, et al. PD-1 alters T-cell metabolic reprogramming by inhibiting glycolysis and promoting lipolysis and fatty acid oxidation. Nat Commun. 2015;6.
- Chamoto K, Chowdhury PS, Kumar A, Sonomura K, Matsuda F, Fagarasan S, et al. Mitochondrial activation chemicals synergize with surface receptor PD-1 blockade for T cell-dependent antitumor activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(5):E761–70.
- 200. Pernemalm M, Sandberg A, Zhu Y, Boekel J, Tamburro D, Schwenk JM, et al. In-depth human plasma proteome analysis captures tissue proteins and transfer of protein variants across the placenta. Elife. 2019;8:1–24.
- 201. Assarsson E, Lundberg M, Holmquist G, Björkesten J, Thorsen SB, Ekman D, et al. Homogenous 96plex PEA immunoassay exhibiting high sensitivity, specificity, and excellent scalability. PLoS One. 2014;9(4).
- 202. Kiani NA, Zenil H, Olczak J, Tegnér J. Evaluating network inference methods in terms of their ability to preserve the topology and complexity of genetic networks. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2016;51:44–52.
- Metz R, Rust S, DuHadaway JB, Mautino MR, Munn DH, Vahanian NN, et al. IDO inhibits a tryptophan sufficiency signal that stimulates mTOR: A novel IDO effector pathway targeted by D-1methyl-tryptophan. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(9):1460–8.
- SORDILLO PP, SORDILLO LA, HELSON L. The Kynurenine Pathway: A Primary Resistance Mechanism in Patients with Glioblastoma. Anticancer Res [Internet]. 2017;37(5):2159–71. Available from: http://ar.iiarjournals.org/content/37/5/2159.abstract
- 205. Heng B, Lim CK, Lovejoy DB, Bessede A, Gluch L, Guillemin GJ. Understanding the role of the kynurenine pathway in human breast cancer immunobiology. 2015;7(6).
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Baban B, Harding HP, Zhang Y, Ron D, et al. GCN2 kinase in T cells mediates proliferative arrest and anergy induction in response to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. Immunity. 2005;22(5):633–42.
- Munn DH, Shafizadeh E, Attwood JT, Bondarev I, Pashine a, Mellor a L. Inhibition of T cell proliferation by macrophage tryptophan catabolism. J Exp Med. 1999;189(9):1363–72.

